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          1  COMMITTEE ON CONTRACTS

          2                 CHAIRPERSON JACKSON: Good morning,

          3  everyone. Welcome to the City Council.  This is the

          4  hearing of the Committee on Contracts.  My name is

          5  Robert Jackson.  If you wish to speak this morning

          6  on this matter, Intro. No. 137, which is also known

          7  as the Equal Benefits Law, if you would please sign

          8  up to my left, to your right, down near the front.

          9                 And with that, I would like to begin

         10  the hearing by introducing my colleagues that are

         11  present this morning.  From my right to my left, is

         12  Council Member Margarita Lopez from Manhattan;

         13  Council Member Christine Quinn from Manhattan;

         14  Council Member Kendall Stewart from Brooklyn, to my

         15  extreme left.  And also up here next to me is Robert

         16  Newman, he is the Counsel to the Committee on

         17  Contracts.  And also staff that are behind the

         18  scenes doing all of the work, Regina Poreda of our

         19  Finance Division, she is over there against the

         20  wall.  And Karen Merrowitz of Council Member Quinn's

         21  Office, Karen is running around here somewhere.  And

         22  Jeremy Hoffman, some of you know, and Peter Rider,

         23  are all from Council Member Quinn's Office.

         24                 COUNCIL MEMBER LOPEZ:  Mr. Chairman?

         25                 CHAIRPERSON JACKSON:  Yes.
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          2                 COUNCIL MEMBER LOPEZ:  Just a point

          3  in clarification.  I am sitting in your right, for

          4  the purpose of just that.

          5                 CHAIRPERSON JACKSON:  I understand.

          6                 Also, of my staff, my Special

          7  Assistant, Joe McNooney, who is not here this

          8  morning, taking care of other business.

          9                 But I would like to welcome all of

         10  you this morning, we are conducting our second

         11  hearing on a very important piece of legislation,

         12  Intro. No. 137, also known as the Equal Benefits

         13  Law.

         14                 Intro. No. 137 would require firms

         15  that contract with the City of New York to offer

         16  employment benefits to employees with domestic

         17  partners to the same extent as they provide those

         18  benefits to employees with spouses.  It has been

         19  estimated that employment benefits, such as medical

         20  insurance and retirement benefits generally comprise

         21  between 30 and 40 percent of an employees total

         22  compensation package.  At the same time, there are

         23  many couples in committed relationships that either

         24  choose not to marry, or who cannot marry because of

         25  their sexual orientation. Who are not, due to their
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          2  marital status, entitled to many of these benefits.

          3                 Many employers now recognize that in

          4  order to attract and retain the best employees from

          5  the largest pool possible, they must provide equal

          6  pay for equal work, and have taken steps to equalize

          7  the compensation offered to their employees with

          8  domestic partners.  In fact, a wide array of

          9  government employers, including New York City,

         10  public institutions and private companies now offer

         11  various types of domestic partnership benefit

         12  packages to their employees.

         13                 These employers benefit from being

         14  able to better compete for employees for a wide

         15  group of applicants.  This bill is, therefore,

         16  important for purely economic reasons for the City

         17  of New York.  Businesses that offer compensational

         18  parity, companies that treat their employees fairly,

         19  are better business partners, since better paid and

         20  satisfied employees produce better goods and

         21  services more cheaply.

         22                 Through Intro. No. 137, the City as a

         23  market participant in consumer of goods and services

         24  is simply requiring compensational parity for the

         25  employees of its contractors, regardless of whether
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          2  the employee's household is organized around a

          3  marriage or a domestic partner.

          4                 With that, I am going to turn to my

          5  colleagues for any introductory remarks, and I first

          6  turn to my right, Council Member Christine Quinn.

          7                 COUNCIL MEMBER QUINN:  Thank you.

          8  First, I want to very, very much thank Chairperson

          9  Jackson, the Chair of the Contracts Committee for

         10  his commitment and leadership on this issue.  And

         11  also, I really want to thank, Rob Newman, the

         12  Counsel to this Committee, who even when he was at

         13  home on paternity leave at our last hearing, was

         14  completely accessible to all of us, and even came to

         15  the hearing when he was on leave.  And you know,

         16  this bill has been in the City Council for a while

         17  and it is just important to note that when it was

         18  sent to this Committee with this Chair, is when it

         19  began to move and get attention.  And I do not want,

         20  as this moves forward, any of us to forget the real

         21  friend we have had in Council Member Jackson.

         22                 You know, today, in cities and places

         23  across the country, LGBT people will be getting

         24  married.  Unfortunately, we, as the City Council do

         25  not have the ability to pass a law saying you can
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          2  get married in New York City.

          3                 That said, it is still critical that

          4  we do everything we can within the power of the New

          5  York City Council to equalize the recognition of

          6  relationships within the five boroughs. And

          7  equalizing the recognition of relationships in a

          8  municipality does not just mean you say you are

          9  recognized.  It means that people get the same

         10  benefits and rights as married people.

         11                 For many years in New York City we

         12  have said clearly that the government and the

         13  taxpayers want City workers who are in domestic

         14  partnerships, which is the most we can bestow, to

         15  get the same benefits as married City workers.

         16  Today, in this bill, we are saying, when we spend

         17  taxpayer money, we are not going to make a

         18  distinction between whether we pay it for a

         19  Sanitation worker, or we pay it for a contract for a

         20  social worker at a not- for- profit. When it is City

         21  taxpayer money, it has a moral standard that goes

         22  along with it.  And that when the City taxpayer's

         23  contract service that New Yorkers need, we want to

         24  make sure that those dollars pay for equal benefits

         25  for equal work.  We do not want to have a double
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          2  standard with the services that the City provides

          3  and pays for.

          4                 And while this debate about gay

          5  marriage and civil marriage rages in this country,

          6  and while our President attempts to make the

          7  Constitution a document to divide and disempower, as

          8  opposed to a road map to rights and privileges in

          9  this country, it is critical that we in the City

         10  Council make this bill a law. Because that will send

         11  a message to him that Legislatures and citizens are

         12  rising up to make sure people are treated equally.

         13  And that we will not tolerate governments doing any

         14  less than treating people equally, so we will

         15  certainly not tolerate governments ripping rights

         16  out of the Constitution and the first time ever,

         17  using that amendment process to take away rights.

         18                 So today is our second hearing on the

         19  bill.  In the very near future we will be voting on

         20  this bill in this Committee, of which I,

         21  unfortunately, am not a member, and then voting on

         22  it on the floor.  I am sad to say that Mayor

         23  Bloomberg, again, reiterated his opposition to this

         24  bill.  And again, you know, he has said that he is

         25  against the amendment, but that is not enough, we
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          2  need to do everything we can in our power, and as a

          3  Mayor and a City Council, this Equal Benefits Bill

          4  is in our power.

          5                 So after today, and I know I speak

          6  for all of my colleagues, we will need your help and

          7  support in trying to get the Mayor to change his

          8  mind.  Because if he does veto it, we will override

          9  it, but we should not have that message sent.  The

         10  City should send a message, we believe in equal

         11  rights, we do not believe in this amendment, and we

         12  should do that by passing and the Mayor signing the

         13  Equal Benefit Bill.  But if he is not willing to do

         14  that, you have a commitment from all of us on this

         15  dais and the City Council that we will override that

         16  veto, and come this spring Intro. 137 will be a law,

         17  whether Mayor Bloomberg wants it to or not.

         18                 Thank you all for being here.

         19                 CHAIRPERSON JACKSON:  Now my

         20  colleague, Margarita Lopez.

         21                 COUNCIL MEMBER LOPEZ:  As an elected

         22  official, I have never taken a position on an issue

         23  that is a personal matter. This is the first time in

         24  my history, in which I touch on an issue in this

         25  Council that I am taking a personal position on it.
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          2  And the reason I got to that point is because I no

          3  longer be willing to be the sacrificed lamb on this

          4  nation when the next election comes, and the

          5  President of this Country, the one who stole the

          6  Presidency for the last three years, is going to

          7  utilize the Gay Community for his own gain and his

          8  own innuendoes, putting in place a division in this

          9  country that is about hate, attacking the Gay,

         10  Lesbian, Transgender, Bisexual Community.

         11                 This bill has become attached to that

         12  reality, and to that political arena.  I am very

         13  deeply offended and very upset and angry about any

         14  elected official out there, or any candidate for

         15  office who is trying to use us and is trampling war

         16  to put their agendas forward, and to bring the right

         17  wing of this nation to fight against us.

         18                 With that, I am saying, this bill was

         19  a bill that was put forward honestly to deal with

         20  the inequalities that exist into the civil society

         21  that we have.  And those inequalities are very

         22  simple, in this bill we were talking about, not of

         23  getting married, we were talking about, give me what

         24  I deserve based on the taxes that I pay.  It is

         25  nothing else that we are asking for in this bill.
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          2                 I want to make very clear, that the

          3  Mayor of this City has an obligations to represent

          4  all of us equally.  But I also want to say very

          5  clear, there are 13 members of the Body who have not

          6  signed this bill, 13 members of this Body, that also

          7  includes the Speaker of this Council.  Thirteen

          8  members of this Body that need to put their name

          9  here, it need to be across the board.  This issue

         10  needs to be embraced by everyone out there who said

         11  that support equality in this City.  And if you said

         12  that, then I want to see your name as a sponsor of

         13  this bill.  And the 13 members of the Council that

         14  are missing, they need to show up before the mothers

         15  of the disappearing in Argentina come to New York

         16  City in April when they are bringing blood by me to

         17  deal with issues of disappearing in this country.

         18  Then it is time for us to speak clear to the issue,

         19  who you are with us, or you are against us.

         20                 Thank you.

         21                 CHAIRPERSON JACKSON:  Also joining us

         22  several minutes ago, our colleague from Manhattan,

         23  Eva Moskowitz, the Chair of the Education Committee.

         24  And Eva, she has a preliminary statement.

         25                 COUNCIL MEMBER MOSKOWITZ:  Thank you,
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          2  Mr. Chair.

          3                 CHAIRPERSON JACKSON:  You are

          4  welcome.

          5                 COUNCIL MEMBER MOSKOWITZ:  I want to

          6  thank Council Member Jackson and Council Member

          7  Quinn for all of the work that they have done on

          8  this bill.  I have been in the City Council now

          9  close to five years, and it is really with great

         10  pleasure that I support this bill, I think it is

         11  long overdue.  I know that there were some very

         12  complex issues that had to be addressed, and I just

         13  want to thank Council Members Quinn and Jackson for

         14  the work that they did, and to express how

         15  supportive I am of this bill.

         16                 I am not a member of this Committee,

         17  and unfortunately, I cannot stay.  So I appreciate,

         18  Mr. Chair, an opportunity to say a few words.

         19                 Thank you.

         20                 CHAIRPERSON JACKSON:  Well, thanks

         21  for coming, and we appreciate your support.

         22                 Okay, with that, I would like to call

         23  our first witness this morning, from the New York

         24  State Comptroller's Office, Alan Hevesi, his Special

         25  Assistant Imogen Taylor.  Ms. Taylor.
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          2                 MR. NEWMAN:  Please raise your right

          3  hand.

          4                 Do you solemnly swear or affirm that

          5  the testimony you are about to give is the truth,

          6  the whole truth, and nothing but the truth?

          7                 MS. TAYLOR: I do.

          8                 MR. NEWMAN:  Please state your name

          9  an affiliation, for the record.

         10                 MS. TAYLOR:  Imogen Taylor, with

         11  State Comptroller, Alan Hevesi.  Thank you,

         12  Committee Chair Jackson, and members of the Council.

         13  Again, my name is Imogen Taylor, and I have here on

         14  behalf of State Comptroller Alan Hevesi.

         15                 The issue before us today is whether

         16  we should use public funds to support companies that

         17  discriminate.  New York City voters have a right to

         18  know that their hard- earned tax contributions are

         19  not subsidizing discriminatory practices.  Our goods

         20  and services should be procured in a way that

         21  reflects sound public values.

         22                 Encouraging companies to provide

         23  health benefits to all their employees has the

         24  potential to save significant resources for both the

         25  City and the State of New York.  A particularly
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          2  important consideration during the current period of

          3  fiscal stress. It reduces the number of people who

          4  are uninsured and must rely on government benefits,

          5  and provides families with regular, outpatient,

          6  preventative care, which is far less costly than the

          7  emergency medical care from hospitals and community

          8  health centers on which they are otherwise forced to

          9  rely.  Potential medical problems that might be

         10  simple and inexpensive to treat if detected early

         11  during regular medical visits, often develop into

         12  far more serious problems when left untreated.  This

         13  vastly increases the financial burden on the State

         14  and City when the patient is eventually forced to

         15  seek care from a hospital or community health

         16  center.

         17                 Intro. 137 is neither groundbreaking

         18  nor uncommon. Ten states, 130 cities and counties,

         19  and 198 colleges and universities have adopted a

         20  system that is inclusive.  The merits of a diverse

         21  workforce and a policy of non- discrimination have

         22  also been recognized by a large portion of the

         23  private sector.  Almost 7,000 private companies,

         24  including 211 Fortune 500 companies, already provide

         25  equal benefits to employees with domestic partners.The
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          2  administrative costs to companies that provide

          3  benefits to employees with domestic partners are

          4  negligible.  In fact, a 1997 study found that 85

          5  percent of the employers that implemented a policy

          6  of providing equal benefits have not experienced an

          7  increase in costs at all.  Increasing the number of

          8  employees eligible for benefits does not require

          9  rewriting company's benefit system; instead, it is

         10  simply a matter of changing the definition of who

         11  the system includes.  Such a large number of

         12  companies have done this already that the wording of

         13  inclusive benefit systems has become standardized,

         14  and can be copied from other companies' human

         15  resource policies.

         16                 The cost of extending benefits to

         17  unmarried employees with families is no greater than

         18  the cost of adding an employee with a spouse.  Fears

         19  of higher costs associate with HIV related claims

         20  from employees' domestic partners have been proven

         21  to be unwarranted.  This assessment is supported by

         22  the fact that insurers have not raised their rates

         23  due to domestic partner enrollment, and 15 years'

         24  worth of data has shown that for the 15 percent of

         25  employers who have experienced an increase in costs,
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          2  the increases have been minimal and in proportion to

          3  the number of employees added, generally around 1

          4  percent of the total number of employees.  Some

          5  companies have even found that covering an

          6  employee's domestic partner is typically less

          7  expensive than covering a spouse.  In addition, many

          8  benefits, such as family leave, bereavement leave,

          9  and access to company facilities incur no cost at

         10  all.

         11                 Many companies that have instituted

         12  inclusive benefit packages will confirm that doing

         13  so is simply smart business.  Employees feel

         14  supported and respected, and are therefore more

         15  loyal, more motivated, more committed to the

         16  company's mission, and less likely to leave.  Fair

         17  treatment increases morale, decreases turnover, and

         18  absenteeism, and reduces workers' level of stress,

         19  making them more productive.  Employees who do not

         20  have the ability to provide for their families in

         21  the case of a medical emergency are liable to be

         22  distracted and feel resentful of their employers.

         23                 Providing a good benefits package

         24  yields numerous other advantages.  Such packages

         25  provide a competitive edge in recruiting employees,
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          2  allowing the company to hire from among the best and

          3  the brightest, most qualified applicants.  Public

          4  opinion is overwhelmingly supportive of efforts to

          5  end discrimination in the workplace, and companies

          6  that recognize this receive a positive boost to

          7  their public image.

          8                 Furthermore, attracting a diverse

          9  workforce also allows a company to be more in touch

         10  with its market.  For example, the Chief Executive

         11  Officer of Proctor and Gamble, John Pepper, has

         12  said, "Our success as a global company is a direct

         13  result of our diverse, talented workforce.  Our

         14  ability to develop new consumer insights and ideas

         15  and to execute in a superior way across the world,

         16  is the best possible testimony to the power of

         17  diversity any organization could have.

         18                 Denying unmarried employees with

         19  families such a large portion of their married

         20  co-workers' compensation package is inconsistent

         21  with the notion of "equal pay for equal work."

         22  Employee benefits are estimated to constitute 30 to

         23  40 percent of employee compensation.  Non-

         24  traditional families are becoming the normal, and

         25  the number of unmarried couples has come to
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          2  represent a significant portion of the workforce.

          3  As their numbers continue to grow, the practice of

          4  compensating married couples at a higher rate than

          5  domestic partners will become more and more

          6  outdated.

          7                 I encourage the Council to remember

          8  that while this legislation is a positive step

          9  toward ending discrimination against unmarried

         10  couples and non- traditional families, it is only a

         11  step, and does not yet bring about true equality.

         12  Most employers require only a marriage certificate,

         13  if anything at all, for an employee to prove

         14  eligibility for a spouse.  Employees with domestic

         15  partners, however, are often required to provide

         16  extensive documentation including sworn affidavits

         17  with evidence of financial interdependence and

         18  details about the length and particulars of their

         19  relationship.  True equality will only come when

         20  unmarried employees with partners and families are

         21  able to enjoy all the benefits accorded to married

         22  employees, and are required to produce the same

         23  amount of eligibility information.  In 1993, I

         24  became the first Citywide elected official in New

         25  York to endorse the equal right of lesbian and gay
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          2  couples to marrying.  Our struggle for the universal

          3  right to marriage will continue, but Intro. 137, the

          4  Equal Benefits Bill, represents an important and

          5  necessary step along the way.

          6                 In 1945, the Brooklyn Dodgers hired

          7  Jackie Robinson. The team did so with the

          8  recognition that a diverse workforce, comprising

          9  players from different communities, would give the

         10  Dodgers a competitive edge.  This is as true today

         11  as it was 60 years ago.  Discrimination in the

         12  workforce is not only an issue of basic fairness, it

         13  is simply a bad business practice.  New York City

         14  has long been considered a beacon of unparalleled

         15  opportunity, illuminating the prospect of success

         16  through hard work and determination.  If we do not

         17  require our vendors to provide their employees with

         18  the basic right to equal pay for equal work, we will

         19  undermine one of our most basic values.

         20                 I would like to thank the Council for

         21  allowing me the opportunity to present testimony

         22  regarding the proposed Equal Benefits Bill.

         23                 CHAIRPERSON JACKSON:  Well I want to

         24  thank you for coming in on behalf of our State

         25  Comptroller Alan Hevesi and reading his statement

                                                            20

          1  COMMITTEE ON CONTRACTS

          2  into the record.

          3                 With that, I am going to open up,

          4  first, let me acknowledge my colleague, Council

          5  Member Yvette Clarke from Brooklyn, who is a member

          6  of this Committee.  Good morning, Yvette. And with

          7  that, I am going to open up to questions; I am going

          8  to turn to my colleague first, Council Member

          9  Christine Quinn.

         10                 COUNCIL MEMBER QUINN:  Thank you.  I

         11  just want to thank very much you and the

         12  Comptroller's Office for coming and supporting the

         13  bill.  And I just want to also note for the record

         14  that the bill has been endorsed and supported by

         15  both the State and the City Comptroller, which I

         16  think is, obviously, significant given both of their

         17  very important positions in the City and State, but

         18  also significant because at the first hearing it was

         19  the Mayor's Office of Contracts who were one of the

         20  two people who testified, and they really attempted,

         21  I believe, to make, to present their testimony as

         22  about, as if this was about a technical issue in

         23  contracting law.  That we were not allowed to do

         24  what we wanted to do, not because of any lack of

         25  support for the LGBT community, but because we were
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          2  just misunderstanding ERISA, and parts of State Law

          3  and Contracting, and at that hearing there was

          4  really a lot of go back and forth between the

          5  Council members and the Mayor's Office.  Because I

          6  believe, and I think most of the Council members

          7  believe that the very same provisions in State Law

          8  that allowed us to pass, and the Mayor to sign, the

          9  Living Wage Bill, are the very same provisions which

         10  allow us to consider, and pass, and have the Mayor

         11  sign the Equal Benefits Bill.

         12                 And it was very strange to me that

         13  the Mayor's Office presented this contracting

         14  technical argument, which was, if you believed that,

         15  you could not have signed the Living Wage Bill, and

         16  it seemed very strange and hypocritical to me that

         17  there would be, this one attack on a contracting

         18  bill that helped one community, but would be totally

         19  different when the bill was not targeted to the LGBT

         20  community.  And I would really take from your

         21  testimony, the Comptroller's testimony, which is

         22  very helpful to our case, because I think it clearly

         23  spells out that the highest contracting officer in

         24  the State, believes we are allowed to do this.  And

         25  that the issues the Mayor's Office raised are not
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          2  true.               So just like all of that is in

          3  my question, is it fair to say the Comptroller's

          4  Office, the State Comptroller's Office believes that

          5  the Equal Benefits Bill is in no way a violation of

          6  the State Law, or an overreaching of the City's

          7  power as it relates to setting benefit provisions

          8  within our contracts?

          9                 MS. TAYLOR:  It is absolutely

         10  correct.

         11                 COUNCIL MEMBER QUINN:  And the

         12  Comptroller is more than happy to stand with us and

         13  assert that, that we are within our power.

         14                 MS. TAYLOR:  Absolutely.

         15                 COUNCIL MEMBER QUINN:  Great, thank

         16  you very much, and I think, because I fear, I hope I

         17  am wrong, but I fear that the Mayor may take his

         18  opposition beyond the veto pen and even into court.

         19  So to have such strong and clear testimony and

         20  support from the State Comptroller will definitely

         21  help us, if we end up there.

         22                 Thanks a lot, and would you thank the

         23  Comptroller for us.

         24                 CHAIRPERSON JACKSON:  Council Member

         25  Margarita Lopez.
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          2                 COUNCIL MEMBER LOPEZ:  I am going to

          3  ask you a question, but onto he contrary to Council

          4  Member Quinn's did, confirming that it is not a

          5  violation.  I want to ask you in the context of

          6  being a violation not to approve the law.   In your

          7  testimony you said, on the last page, "to equal pay

          8  for equal work. We will undermine one of our most

          9  basic values."  I would like to ask you, are we

         10  violating our most basic values, or are we also

         11  violating the law that exists in this State, in this

         12  City, in this Nation, that mandate under the working

         13  rules of this County that people have to be paid,

         14  have to be given equal rights for equal work?

         15                 MS. TAYLOR:  Certainly, I mean, on

         16  any legal issue I would defer it to Comptroller

         17  Hevesi's Legal Department.  But if it is

         18  inconsistent with an aspect of State Law that

         19  asserts that there must be equal pay for equal work,

         20  then clearly this violates that.

         21                 COUNCIL MEMBER LOPEZ:  Those laws

         22  exist; it is no question that we have those

         23  employment laws in place.  Therefore, if at the

         24  current moment I have a partner, who is my domestic

         25  partner, but she cannot receive any of the benefits
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          2  whatsoever that are attached to my equality to

          3  another employee in the Council, like for example,

          4  this Council Member Jackson, who has a spouse, and

          5  she receives all of the benefits connected to his

          6  employment, capacities and laws that exist in this

          7  Council.  My partner does not receive any.  He and

          8  I, therefore, are not receiving equal pay for equal

          9  work.  That is correct?

         10                 MS. TAYLOR:  Correct.

         11                 COUNCIL MEMBER LOPEZ:  Then if it is

         12  not the case, then it is a violation of the law not

         13  to pass this legislation, because we are in effect

         14  by regulations that we have in place, disobeying

         15  fundamental laws that the entire Nation is supposed

         16  to respect; correct?

         17                 MS. TAYLOR:  Correct.

         18                 COUNCIL MEMBER LOPEZ:  Therefore, I

         19  will say the Mayor is in violation of law, and we

         20  shall do something about it.

         21                 Thank you.

         22                 MS. TAYLOR:  I can also attest to

         23  Comptroller Hevesi's support of a similar provision,

         24  or a similar bill for State Contracts.

         25                 COUNCIL MEMBER LOPEZ:  Then I will
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          2  say also that the Governor is violating the law in

          3  the State of New York, and we shall do something

          4  about it too.

          5                 CHAIRPERSON JACKSON:  I just wanted

          6  to ask you a couple of questions.  I think in your

          7  testimony you read, or I guess based on the research

          8  that was done by the State Comptroller's Office that

          9  from a holistic point of view, it is in the best

         10  interest of this City and this State to offer

         11  domestic partners health insurance coverage rather

         12  than have individuals that are part of domestic

         13  partnership family not to have health insurance

         14  coverage.

         15                 Have you figured out what the cost

         16  factor is as far as, if in fact, families of

         17  domestic partners do not have coverage, how much

         18  additional money this costing the City of New York,

         19  the State of New York by not having domestic

         20  partners and families covered?  Because I just know

         21  the negative effects of not having health insurance

         22  coverage.

         23                 I remember when I was first starting

         24  out, I did not have health insurance coverage and my

         25  wife gave birth to our first child, and I had to
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          2  scrap up money in order to pay the health insurance

          3  bill, and they wanted to keep my wife in the

          4  hospital another day, and I was saying, no, we have

          5  got to go, because I was thinking dollars that I

          6  could not afford.  And that was a long, long time

          7  ago, and as you know, health insurance has

          8  skyrocketed since 1975.  And I just wanted to know

          9  whether or not you have done any research as to how

         10  much more it is costing the City and/or the State of

         11  New York by not having such a law passed?

         12                 MS. TAYLOR:  I am afraid that I have

         13  not calculated an actual, numerical assessment.  But

         14  certainly there is plenty of documentation to attest

         15  to the fact that there is a huge amount of money to

         16  be saved by avoiding the need for the uninsured, who

         17  tend to have poorer health to seek their basic

         18  medical care from emergency rooms and community

         19  health centers.  And that because medical problems

         20  tend, because of that, to go unnoticed in the early

         21  stages, by the time that person is forced to seek

         22  medical care from an emergency room, it has become a

         23  much more serious problem that requires much more

         24  expensive treatment.

         25                 CHAIRPERSON JACKSON:  Now it is my

                                                            27

          1  COMMITTEE ON CONTRACTS

          2  understanding, and we had testimony to this before.

          3  It is my understanding in New York City, of all of

          4  the people that have registered as domestic partners

          5  that approximately 70, 75 percent of them are males

          6  and females.  Have the Comptroller's Office done any

          7  research as to whether or not this is the case

          8  around the State, or do you confirm what basically

          9  has happened in New York City, that we are talking

         10  about this is all inclusive of everyone, whether it

         11  is male/male, female/female, or male/female, that it

         12  really doesn't matter, that it is to the benefit of

         13  the State of New York to provide this, and the City

         14  of New York?

         15                 MS. TAYLOR:  That is absolutely

         16  correct.  And again, the studies have shown that

         17  generally the number of employees to take advantage

         18  of this benefit has been around 1 percent of the

         19  total number of employees.  Different sources have

         20  said 1 percent, 1 to 3 percent.

         21                 CHAIRPERSON JACKSON:  Now, do you

         22  think that due to the impact on competitiveness for

         23  businesses that provide domestic partner benefits

         24  might result in the lower cost for goods and

         25  services for New York City businesses and New York
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          2  State businesses?

          3                 MS. TAYLOR:  I think that is

          4  absolutely true, because, again, employees who are

          5  treated fairly and receive equal pay for equal work,

          6  and perhaps most importantly are not preoccupied

          7  during their working day with the stress associated

          8  with knowing that they could not provide for their

          9  family in the case of a medical emergency, those

         10  workers are more productive. The cost of

         11  absenteeism, of high rates of turnover, are great to

         12  the company.  So companies that, and as many

         13  companies have attested, companies that do provide

         14  an inclusive system of benefits have lower costs.

         15                 CHAIRPERSON JACKSON:  Now I am

         16  drawing the conclusion, based on the testimony that

         17  you gave on behalf of your employer, our State

         18  Comptroller, Alan Hevesi, who is the State's Fiscal

         19  Officer of the State of New York, that it is sound,

         20  economic business for the City of New York to pass

         21  this into law.

         22                 Is that what conclusion you have

         23  reached, or the State Comptroller reached?

         24                 MS. TAYLOR:  Absolutely correct.

         25                 CHAIRPERSON JACKSON:  And will it
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          2  save us, in his opinion, or in your opinion as his

          3  Special Assistant, will it save us money, and also

          4  provide health insurance coverage to keep the people

          5  that we are considering that this will impact,

          6  healthier and stronger, and more united?

          7                 MS. TAYLOR:  Absolutely.

          8                 CHAIRPERSON JACKSON:  Council Member

          9  Christine Quinn.

         10                 COUNCIL MEMBER QUINN:  I just wanted

         11  to just add for the record, as kind of a little bit

         12  of follow- up to the questions that the Chair was

         13  asking about companies.  That there are, you know, a

         14  number of companies, Project Renewal, which is a

         15  very, very large social service agency, Merrill-

         16  Lynch, who have actually endorsed the bill.  But to

         17  date, we have yet, in my office to meet with any

         18  company that is in opposition to the bill.  And in

         19  fact, the meetings that we have had with some very

         20  large banks in the City, the major industries

         21  involved with construction, when those various

         22  entities have requested meetings with us, my office

         23  honestly thought of we are going to go in and they

         24  are going to be opposed to the bill.  And in every

         25  one of those meetings, their questions have been,
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          2  well you could change this so compliance is easier.

          3  We are concerned that this might be tough to comply

          4  with, there was no opposition, it was about how we

          5  could make the bill, you know, more doable for

          6  companies.

          7                 So I think the economic issues and

          8  the good business issues that you and the Chair were

          9  discussing are very real because that is the type of

         10  feedback we are hearing, you know, from very

         11  significant companies, and banks, and other entities

         12  in the City.

         13                 COUNCIL MEMBER JACKSON:  Thank you.

         14  Doctor Kendall Stewart from Brooklyn.

         15                 COUNCIL MEMBER STEWART:  Thank you,

         16  Mr. Chair.  I am happy that we are considering this

         17  bill for benefits for all.  And I had some concerns,

         18  which the Counsel just informed that we might have

         19  it in the revised version of including, you know, a

         20  little more inclusive in terms of, if they are two

         21  sisters, or if their are two people living in the

         22  same home, and according to the definition of

         23  domestic partners, those two people would not fit

         24  into that category, so we would have to include that

         25  in our definition.
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          2                 My concern, basically, is the

          3  employers using, how are they going to be notified,

          4  is it at the beginning of the employment, or at any

          5  time, how do you notify that this is, the employee

          6  may have a domestic partner, or there is somebody

          7  who is related that would be entitled to this type

          8  of benefits?  I do not want the employer to be able

          9  to use some excuse, when the request for benefits is

         10  requested.  So how would you see us addressing that

         11  though, addressing that idea?

         12                 MS. TAYLOR:  The details of the way

         13  that this would be implemented, I am afraid I am not

         14  familiar with, but I would imagine that applying for

         15  health benefits for your domestic would be

         16  implemented in precisely the same way it is for a

         17  spouse.  So if that is at the beginning of their

         18  employment when they are first hired by the company,

         19  then it would be the same for employees with

         20  domestic partners.

         21                 COUNCIL MEMBER STEWART:  My problem

         22  is basically that is one part of it, that can

         23  happen.  But assuming that someone is working and

         24  may not have decided to register before, and their

         25  partner takes sick or take ill along that time, then

                                                            32

          1  COMMITTEE ON CONTRACTS

          2  they have to prove, I do not want the employer using

          3  that as an excuse, say, well listen you are just

          4  applying now because your partner is ill, and you

          5  want benefit now, but all along they were not

          6  partners. How would that, how can we negate that

          7  problem of them applying at that time and having the

          8  problem with the employer?

          9                 MS. TAYLOR:  I imagine that the same

         10  scenario could occur with an employee with a spouse.

         11

         12                 COUNCIL MEMBER STEWART:  Because the

         13  spouse has something to show, they may have a

         14  marriage certificate, that is what I am saying, and

         15  that will quickly eliminate that problem. But with

         16  the domestic partner, I am looking to see what are

         17  we going to use to prove that it is actually a

         18  domestic partner, that is what I am looking at?

         19                 MS. TAYLOR: Well generally, companies

         20  that provide benefits to employees domestic partners

         21  require sworn affidavits of financial independence.

         22                 COUNCIL MEMBER STEWART:  And that is

         23  usually before, that is what I am saying.  But there

         24  might be an employee working today that has a

         25  domestic partner, but I am saying that person did
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          2  not register with the company, and that domestic

          3  partner has someone who took ill today.  They might

          4  have been working four years, two years, take ill

          5  today.  I am saying they realize, listen, we can get

          6  that benefit.  How are you going to prove to the

          7  employer that that domestic partner, that person who

          8  took ill is really a domestic partnership that is

          9  going on, instead of just, you know, we have to find

         10  a way in which we can prevent the employer from

         11  really giving that worker a hard time when they are

         12  bringing in their domestic partners.  There has to

         13  be some way in which we can establish, you know,

         14  establish that it is not going to be a problem for

         15  that employee.

         16                 CHAIRPERSON JACKSON:  Let me

         17  interject here, because, and that is a very

         18  legitimate question.  But it is my understanding

         19  that when an employee comes in to his employer,

         20  let's say the Human Resource Unit to say, and they

         21  have been in a domestic partnership/relationship for

         22  five years, but they have not changed their health

         23  insurance status.  They will come in and say, I have

         24  a domestic partner, and I want to have health

         25  insurance coverage.  It is assumed that the employee
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          2  is telling the truth. And so it should be automatic.

          3                 But just in case, if an employer

          4  says, well, you have to show proof of that.  As you

          5  know, you may not know, because obviously you work

          6  for the State of New York, and you may not know the

          7  City, our City Clerk, Victor Robles, there is a

          8  domestic partnership form that someone could fill

          9  out to certify that they are in a domestic

         10  partnership/relationship, the same as, I guess,

         11  individuals would have to show proof that they are

         12  married.  If there is no proof that you have to show

         13  that you are married, there in my opinion there

         14  should be no proof to have to show that you are a

         15  domestic partner/relationship.  In essence, it

         16  should be the same equality, the same footing, and

         17  that is all the bill calls for.

         18                 And I do know, for example, if you

         19  want, just like every year there is a health

         20  enrollment period where if you want to change from

         21  one plan to another, I think November is always the

         22  month for changing over your plan, but that is a

         23  little different than determining and saying, okay,

         24  I am in a domestic partnership/relationship and I

         25  want to have coverage for my partner and my family.
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          2                 So I just wanted to clarify that for

          3  everyone, because I do not think that you are the

          4  expert in Human Resource Management in order to

          5  answer that.  But there are domestic partnership

          6  forms, and you know, but the forms are not

          7  necessary, if in fact, in my opinion, if they do not

          8  require me to produce a marriage certificate to show

          9  that I am married to my wife.

         10                 COUNCIL MEMBER STEWART:  Exactly, Mr.

         11  Chair, I was just informed by Counsel that there are

         12  specific things that they can ask for, which is not

         13  in this current version of the bill, and that is why

         14  I have all these concerns.  And I am sure that the

         15  new version will have, will clear up all of this.

         16                 CHAIRPERSON JACKSON:  Well I know

         17  that they are very legitimate concerns.  And I know

         18  there are going to be questions concerning the

         19  implementation when this is signed into law.  But

         20  you know, those are very appropriate questions to be

         21  asked any time along the process.  And we have to

         22  make sure that all of the employers that are going

         23  to be dealing with this have an appropriate

         24  response, and the responses are the same through,

         25  whether it is the City of New York, or a private
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          2  employer, or a CBO, that implementation of this is

          3  the same everywhere across the board.

          4                 Council Member Margarita Lopez.

          5                 COUNCIL MEMBER LOPEZ:  One point of

          6  clarification, are you aware, or the Comptroller is

          7  aware of any language in the law that said that

          8  medical benefits when you become employed, can only

          9  be given to a spouse?

         10                 MS. TAYLOR:  No, he is not aware of

         11  that.

         12                 COUNCIL MEMBER LOPEZ:  Okay.  Then

         13  this determination is an arbitrary determination, it

         14  is not a determination made by any law in the State

         15  of New York; correct?

         16                 MS. TAYLOR:  That is logical.

         17                 COUNCIL MEMBER LOPEZ:  Then if it is

         18  not any law that says that the companies that employ

         19  somebody that have medical benefit only can give it

         20  to somebody who is married under the regulations of

         21  the State, if it does not exist nowhere, the City of

         22  New York can put this administrative action in

         23  regard of how medical benefits are approved in this

         24  City.

         25                 MS. TAYLOR:  There may be company
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          2  policies that state these benefits can only be

          3  afforded to spouses.  But the Comptroller is

          4  certainly not aware of any law stating that.

          5                 COUNCIL MEMBER LOPEZ:  In this State.

          6    Then if it is a company that has that policy, that

          7  is an internal policy that that particular company

          8  has and nothing else.

          9                 MS. TAYLOR:  Correct.

         10                 COUNCIL MEMBER LOPEZ:  And it is not

         11  a policy, therefore, that say or speak to the

         12  question of the letter of the law.

         13                 MS. TAYLOR:  Again, specific legal

         14  questions, on those I would defer to the

         15  Comptroller's Legal Department.

         16                 COUNCIL MEMBER LOPEZ:  Can we get an

         17  opinion of the Comptroller in writing about that?

         18  Because perhaps the problem we have in the City is

         19  that perhaps the Mayor had not been illuminated

         20  properly on this issue.  And maybe we can do it by

         21  these opinions in writing, give it to him.  Because

         22  in the last hearing that we have here, his

         23  representative came to speak, and in all honesty,

         24  this woman have a real hard time explaining to us

         25  the logic of the opposition to it.
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          2                 Then perhaps if we put in writing

          3  that there is no reason why this law cannot be

          4  passed, it would be helpful to the Mayor.

          5                 MS. TAYLOR:  Again, you know, I am no

          6  lawyer, and would defer to the Legal Department.

          7  But in some of the research I have done, I can tell

          8  you that there is some precedent for this. The

          9  Federal Court in the Ninth District that in the case

         10  of San Francisco's implementation of this bill, that

         11  the City had every right to pursue their way of

         12  procuring goods and services in a way that aids in

         13  ending discrimination.

         14                 COUNCIL MEMBER LOPEZ:  Then I am

         15  asking you, officially, that the Comptroller, if he

         16  kind, and nice, and good, and I know that he is, he

         17  has been a friend of the Committee for a long, long

         18  time.  If he could put in writing his legal opinion

         19  about any possible law in the books of the State of

         20  New York that will make it illegal for the City of

         21  New York to pass such a law, and I am talking from

         22  the angle of a legal opinion from his Legal

         23  Department.  Thank you.

         24                 MS. TAYLOR:  Absolutely.

         25                 CHAIRPERSON JACKSON:  I would like to
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          2  acknowledge the presence, to my extreme right, I am

          3  not necessarily saying politically, but where I am

          4  sitting, Council Member Helen Sears of Queens, my

          5  colleague from Queens, and over to my extreme left,

          6  a member of this Committee, Council Member David

          7  Yassky of Brooklyn. And I am going to acknowledge

          8  Councilman Yassky now.  Council Member Yassky.

          9                 COUNCIL MEMBER YASSKY:  Thank you,

         10  Chair Jackson. I am participating in another hearing

         11  today, so I will not be with you for the remainder

         12  of the hearing.

         13                 I simply want to reiterate as a

         14  co-sponsor of this bill, it is my firm belief that

         15  until the day when we do have full equality for all

         16  couples, we must do everything we can to move in

         17  that direction.  This bill is a step in that

         18  direction, I support it wholeheartedly.  Chair

         19  Jackson, thank you for holding this hearing.

         20                 CHAIRPERSON JACKSON:  Thank you,

         21  David, and I appreciate your coming just to clearly

         22  show your presence here this morning.  And I know

         23  that you have other commitments, but I thank you for

         24  coming in and expressing your full support for

         25  Intro. 137.
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          2                 Council Member Helen Sears.

          3                 COUNCIL MEMBER SEARS:  Thank you, Mr.

          4  Chair.  I thank you for giving me a few minutes to

          5  have a few words to say about this Intro.  I am

          6  Chairing and I have to get back to where I am,

          7  across the street.

          8                 I gather that there is some confusion

          9  about this, and we had a hearing earlier, and I

         10  think the statements that I made are certainly true

         11  today they have not changed.  But it seems to me and

         12  the question, and I know the Councilwoman certainly

         13  asked you to do that, but I am slightly familiar

         14  with some of insurance, insurance policies, and the

         15  policies of the companies.

         16                 I know that we have a State Insurance

         17  and there are rules and regulations for that.  It

         18  would seem that if the City contracts outside

         19  people, government has a responsibility, whether it

         20  is the City, the State, or the Federal government,

         21  we have a responsibility to see to the well being of

         22  all our citizens, and I use that word globally.  We

         23  do not extract that which we choose to take care of

         24  and leave alone the others.  So if a level of

         25  government chooses to be responsible and recognize
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          2  that segment that does not have the benefits that

          3  others enjoy, it would seem that we would have that

          4  option since it is government that is making this

          5  contract and people are getting work out of the City

          6  and using taxpayers dollars.

          7                 And I have to say that those taxpayer

          8  dollars have a responsibility to take care of all of

          9  the people who pay them, and those who are unable to

         10  pay them.  We do not have a means test for that, and

         11  we should not on any of it.

         12                 So in terms of looking at what you

         13  can do with the law, I think you need to include

         14  that.  And I would say, until we are told in court

         15  that we cannot do something, I hope that this

         16  Committee will vote this out, because it is right,

         17  it is the right thing to do, and it is also our

         18  responsibility to see that we do it.  And for those

         19  who may feel it is not, or it is too costly, it is

         20  better to have a healthy community than a sick one.

         21  And when you have a sick community it costs you far

         22  more dollars than when they are healthy, and that is

         23  our responsibility.

         24                 Thank you very much, Mr. Chair, and

         25  hopefully you will pass it.
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          2                 CHAIRPERSON JACKSON:  Thank you,

          3  Council Member. Clearly, with people like you that

          4  are supporting equal benefits for all individuals

          5  who work just as hard as everyone else, this will

          6  pass into law, and the Mayor will sign it into law.

          7                 And with that, I want to thank you

          8  for coming in, and please give our regards to our

          9  State Comptroller, let him know that we fully

         10  support him in his quest to ensure that there is

         11  equality throughout the State of New York, on behalf

         12  of the people of the State of New York.  Thank you

         13  very much.

         14                 MS. TAYLOR:  Thank you very much.

         15                 CHAIRPERSON JACKSON:  Thank you.  And

         16  the next panel, panel number two, will be Dwight

         17  Loines from the United Auto Workers, Erik Ochsner,

         18  and Right Reverend Bishop Catherine Roskam, the

         19  Episcopal Diocese of New York.

         20                 Sergeant-At-Arms, would you please,

         21  oh, she is on the case already.  Thank you very

         22  much.

         23                 MR. NEWMAN:  Please raise your right

         24  hands.

         25                 Do you solemnly swear or affirm that
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          2  the testimony you are about to give is the truth,

          3  the whole truth, and nothing but the truth?

          4                 MR. OCHSNER: I do.

          5                 MR. LOINES: I do.

          6                 RT. REV. BISHOP ROSKAM: I do.

          7                 MR. NEWMAN:  Please state your names

          8  and affiliations for the record, and proceed.

          9                 MR. OCHSNER:  My name is Erik

         10  Ochsner.  I am a resident of Manhattan and I am here

         11  speaking on personal testimony as an employee of Met

         12  Life.

         13                 MR. LOINES:  My name is Dwight

         14  Loines, Political Direct for the UAW Region 9A, and

         15  I am here on behalf of our Region 9A of the UAW.

         16                 RT. REV. BISHOP ROSKAM:  I am

         17  Catherine Roskam, I am Bishop Suffragan of the

         18  Episcopal Diocese of New York.

         19                 CHAIRPERSON JACKSON:  Okay, would the

         20  first individual that introduced himself, state

         21  their name and begin their testimony.

         22                 MR. OCHSNER:  My name is Erik

         23  Ochsner.  I would like to say good morning, and

         24  thank you for having me here.

         25                 CHAIRPERSON JACKSON:  Good morning.
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          2                 MR. OCHSNER:  I am a classical

          3  orchestra and opera conductor, however, I pay my

          4  bills doing full- time graphics work at Met Life,

          5  where I receive a salary and my medical benefits.  I

          6  should add that I have been asked by my employer,

          7  Met Life to indicate that I am here on my own

          8  volition, providing personal testimony, not on

          9  behalf of Met Life.

         10                 I am currently in a committed,

         11  trusting, and loving relationship of eight years.

         12  As my partner is Japanese, many equality issues,

         13  including immigration status and health benefits

         14  have come up over the years.  Ironically, in 1964,

         15  my father married a Finnish foreign, but he was able

         16  to offer my mother immigration status.  I could not

         17  offer my partner these rights.  We are currently

         18  registered domestic partners in the City of New

         19  York.

         20                 My partner and I bought our apartment

         21  together, we share our lives, our expenses, our bank

         22  accounts in sickness and in health, for richer and

         23  poorer, till death do us part.  But in reality, I

         24  cannot do much to help him legally.  So when I

         25  received an email from our CEO at Met Life several
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          2  years ago talking about how Met Life strives to

          3  treat all employees equally regardless of race,

          4  origin, background, gender, and sexual orientation,

          5  I immediately picked up the phone and called our HR

          6  Service Center an inquired about domestic partner

          7  benefits.  Much to my chagrin, I was told they did

          8  not offer them.

          9                 At this point, it was clear to me I

         10  had to fight for same sex benefits at the Fortune

         11  500 Company where I was employed. Through weeks of

         12  research I was able to draft a letter to Senior

         13  Level Officers at Met Life providing statistics,

         14  figures, and even sample applications from companies

         15  that were already offering these so- called same sex

         16  medical benefits.  I knew some companies, even

         17  thought went the extra step by providing a wider

         18  coverage by offering domestic partner benefits, but

         19  I did not imagine my employer would take that route.

         20    As it turned out in the end, they did.

         21                 I felt passion only that this was the

         22  appropriate step that Met Life should take.  There

         23  were several discoveries though that surprised me

         24  during my research, aside from the fact that my

         25  employer of 45,000 people did not offer them.
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          2                 First of all, the number of companies

          3  which already did offer domestic partner benefits,

          4  and secondly, the surprisingly low number of

          5  employees who took advantage of this offering.

          6  Today the numbers of companies offering benefits are

          7  up.  In 2000, there were only 99 Fortune 500

          8  companies that offered domestic partner benefits.

          9  Today there are 211.

         10                 Figures from 2000 show that 0.5

         11  percent to 3 percent of employees actually enroll.

         12  Also important was a 1997 study by the Study of

         13  Human Resource Management that found 85 percent of

         14  employers experienced no cost increase as a result

         15  of providing domestic partner benefits.

         16                 Perhaps the most rewarding experience

         17  of my trials and tribulations was hearing about a

         18  young woman in my department who had just moved in

         19  with her fiance'.  He did not have medical benefits

         20  at the time, so my colleague was able to put her

         21  fiance' on her medical benefits plan as a domestic

         22  partner.  One week after he signed on the dotted

         23  line, he had an emergency appendectomy.  I felt

         24  privileges to have been a part of establishing a

         25  fair and equitable policy for all in my company,
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          2  which actually may have saved someone's life.

          3                 I would also like to add on a

          4  personal note, as my partner now works full- time

          5  for a company that also offers domestic partner

          6  benefits, it is actually more cost- effective for us

          7  to be simply enrolled as individuals in our own

          8  company's plans.  If my employer paid for any of my

          9  partner's medical care, they are required by federal

         10  law to treat this as additional, taxable income,

         11  whereas if paid to a married couple it is not

         12  considered taxable.  This certainly does not sound

         13  like equality.

         14                 As we have all come to know the fight

         15  is far from over in the land of the free and the

         16  home of the brave.

         17                 Thank you very much.

         18                 CHAIRPERSON JACKSON:  Thank you,

         19  Erik.  Dwight.

         20                 MR. LOINES:  Again, my name is Dwight

         21  Loines.  I am here on behalf of Region 9A of the

         22  UAW.

         23                 Let me tell you, first of all, --

         24                 CHAIRPERSON JACKSON:  Dwight, before

         25  you begin, you said, 9A of the UAW, United Auto
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          2  Workers.

          3                 MR. LOINES:  That is correct.

          4                 CHAIRPERSON JACKSON:  So what titles

          5  do you represent that you are given testimony to?

          6                 MR. LOINES:  Titles you mean,

          7  employees?

          8                 CHAIRPERSON JACKSON:  Employees.

          9                 MR. LOINES:  I will get into that in

         10  terms of my testimony.

         11                 CHAIRPERSON JACKSON:  Oh, I'm sorry,

         12  okay.

         13                 MR. LOINES:  That is okay, you are

         14  anticipating.

         15                 CHAIRPERSON JACKSON:  I just wanted a

         16  frame of reference, that is all.

         17                 MR. LOINES:  I understand, I will get

         18  to that quickly.

         19                 Actually, I want to thank the

         20  Committee for our considering this legislation and

         21  having this hearing today.  It is my pleasure,

         22  really, to be here to lend my support to this

         23  legislation.

         24                 The UAW has long supported domestic

         25  partner benefits.  And in fact, in some of our
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          2  earlier contracts, and Village Voice as an example,

          3  Legal Aid, Legal Services, we many years ago

          4  negotiated provisions that provide domestic partner

          5  benefits to our members.  And this is something that

          6  our membership across the board supports.  You know

          7  something about collective bargaining in that

          8  process, it is give and take.  Our people stood

          9  strongly from the beginning throughout the

         10  collective bargaining process to demand and ensure

         11  that domestic partner coverage was ultimately

         12  included.

         13                 In addition to those, Village Voice,

         14  Legal Aid, Legal Services, I should also mention

         15  Legal Aid incidently provides for paid parental

         16  leave for domestic partners, which also, of course,

         17  extends to greater employees.  In addition to those

         18  contracts at Columbia University, New York

         19  University, you know, those contracts also cover

         20  domestic partners, and I believe the MOMA contract

         21  does, also covers, that is the Museum of Modern Art,

         22  also covers domestic partners.  And I know that, at

         23  least, some of those organizations did business with

         24  the City, so they would come under the amber of this

         25  particular legislation, I wanted to make that point.
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          2                 We, you know, we started negotiating

          3  these provisions, I can remember, I was involved in

          4  Legal Services contract probably 10 years ago when

          5  we first negotiated this.  And at that point none of

          6  the insurance companies, a very few offered this

          7  coverage.  So really we insisted and ultimately

          8  prevailed, and insisted that the employers go out

          9  and find carriers that would provide such benefits.

         10  So I would like to think, you know, that kind of

         11  advocacy early on made it possible.

         12                 Now in one sense putting aside any

         13  frivolous legal arguments that have been raised, it

         14  is insurance companies are now as a matter of course

         15  providing such coverage.  So that is no longer an

         16  excuse for employees not being able to go forward

         17  with this kind of benefit.  So we believe, at this

         18  point, strongly that the Legislature that you are

         19  considering, which would require companies doing

         20  business with the City to provide such coverage, we

         21  believe that is timely.  And to honest, from a

         22  selfish point of view, it is also going to help us

         23  in collective bargaining, because our approach in

         24  all of our contracts, particularly here in New York

         25  is to go after that coverage.  And again, we do not
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          2  want employers to have an excuse.

          3                 Our experience has shown that it

          4  frankly does not cost a great deal more money for

          5  employers to provide that.  To be honest initially

          6  they raised that, but the experience has

          7  demonstrated over the years that we have had this

          8  coverage in place that frankly it does not cost

          9  additional money.  And of course, I would point out

         10  that to the extent that we have already provided

         11  such benefits, those employers who continued to do

         12  business with you will experience zero increase in

         13  terms of cost.

         14                 So again, I am very happy to be here,

         15  and I would like to, you know, work with the

         16  Committee and with the Council as a whole to make

         17  sure that this legislation, in fact, becomes law,

         18  and again, I commend you for it.

         19                 Thank you very much.

         20                 CHAIRPERSON JACKSON:  I want to thank

         21  you for coming in on behalf of your union and giving

         22  testimony.

         23                 Right Reverend Bishop Catherine.

         24                 RT. REV. BISHOP ROSKAM:  Yes, I am

         25  Catherine Roskam. It was tempting not to come this
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          2  morning, I really commend your work, but I am tired.

          3    I have to deal with some really gut wrenching

          4  pastoral issues this week that have kept me awake at

          5  night, so it was really tempting to turn over and

          6  grab another half hour.

          7                 But tired as I am physically, I am

          8  more tired of bigotry masquerading as religion.  And

          9  I am sick and tired of the religious right and the

         10  political right with all their discriminatory

         11  practices hiding behind the all inclusive, Salvific

         12  Cross of Jesus Christ.

         13                 Now I want to say that I respect

         14  people of different opinions within the religious

         15  community.  As we continue to discuss gay marriage

         16  within a sacramental setting.  I have an opinion on

         17  that too, but that is not really what is at issue

         18  today.  And while that does remain a subject of some

         19  controversy within my own Church, domestic partners

         20  seem like a no- brainer.  You past it years ago

         21  without controversy on both the national and the

         22  diocesan level.  And I would respectfully ask you to

         23  add to this list, the Episcopal Diocese of New York.

         24                 I have to tell you, I have been

         25  married for 37 years.  And my husband and I continue
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          2  to puzzle over how any, the commitment of love

          3  between any two people undermines our relationship.

          4  I would think any strengthening of commitment

          5  strengthens all of our relationships.  And we know

          6  that we are privileges in this society, because we

          7  happen to be heterosexuals, and it is a privilege

          8  that embarrasses us, and that we would like to see

          9  shared as it ought to be as a right for all people.

         10                 If we are looking at a threat to

         11  marriage, I am sorry, I just cannot resist this.  I

         12  am really worried about the younger generation and

         13  television programs like Bachelorette, and Joe

         14  Millionaire, and that real winner called something

         15  like, My Big Fat Disgusting Fiance', or whatever it

         16  was.  I mean let's really look at how the culture

         17  undermines the commitment of people.  Don't get me

         18  started on that one.

         19                 While we are talking about my

         20  fatigue, I have to say, that I am also really tired

         21  of the continuing assault by the political right on

         22  the division of church and state.  One of our

         23  founding fathers said, this land is no more a

         24  Christian country than it is Hebrew, or Mohammedan

         25  (phonetic), who said that, George Washington, I see

                                                            54

          1  COMMITTEE ON CONTRACTS

          2  his picture up there, his portrait.  You know he was

          3  an Episcopalian too.  And I would like to suggest

          4  that in the months of head, that that is the George

          5  W. We need to listen to.

          6                 Thank you.

          7                 CHAIRPERSON JACKSON:  I want to thank

          8  you for coming in and not getting an extra half-

          9  hour of shuteye, because we do want to hear from as

         10  many people as possible from diverse backgrounds as

         11  possible in order to get a clear point of view as to

         12  what the opinions are of individuals that represent

         13  different groups and organizations, and individuals

         14  on this particular matter, so that we can be

         15  constantly be refocusing about what we are doing and

         16  how we are doing it as a legislative body of the

         17  City of New York.

         18                 So I want to thank all three of you.

         19  I am going to turn to my colleagues to see if they

         20  have any comments or question. Council Member Chris

         21  Quinn.

         22                 COUNCIL MEMBER QUINN:  I really do

         23  not have any questions.  I really just want to thank

         24  all of you.  You know, the three of you were a very,

         25  you know, incredibly compelling panel. But also
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          2  through the diversity of different folks you

          3  represent I think a great example of why this bill

          4  is so important.

          5                 You know the story you told about

          6  being an individual in a company who took this issue

          7  on himself.  I mean you were doing the work that

          8  government should do.  And that is an incredibly

          9  courageous thing, even in 2004 it is not easy to be,

         10  you know, an out gay person in a company.  So to do

         11  that, is courageous enough.  But then to do that and

         12  struggle to get your company, you know as nice a

         13  company as it sounds like it is, a nameless face, a

         14  big company, to make a change is, you know, beyond

         15  courageous.  And to then to hear the real impact it

         16  had, that you very well did save somebody's life

         17  through your work is an example that as this bill

         18  moves forward and we may here opposition from

         19  religious groups and others is an example for all of

         20  us who sit up here to keep in mind. Because if you

         21  risked so much, and in the end saved a life, very

         22  realistically, we should do no less and should have

         23  already done this.

         24                 You know, and this bill, you know,

         25  for the UAW you represent many people who contract
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          2  with the City.  And to have a civil rights issue

          3  taken really off of you agenda, an issue that should

          4  not be a collective bargaining issue taken off that

          5  list. Because you do not collectively bargain for

          6  spousal rights.  It is something people get because

          7  it is a right and standard in this city and country.

          8    And to have the rights of domestic partners put

          9  down, really put down and made lower onto an issue

         10  that is maybe you are going to get it, but maybe we

         11  are going to trade for another Monday off, that is

         12  not what it is.  That is not what it is for married

         13  people, and that should not be what it is for

         14  domestic partners.

         15                 And I just want to say to have such a

         16  wonderful and uplifting, and inclusive, and

         17  inspiring voice of religion here is a wonderful

         18  gift.  And I thank you for not going back to sleep

         19  and for being a voice of inclusion in what sometimes

         20  seems like a very dark, dark effort in the religion

         21  world to separate and divide us. And to know that

         22  there is still light within the religious world is

         23  very important to me, so thank you very much.

         24                 CHAIRPERSON JACKSON:  My last comment

         25  is, Erik, your employer clearly stated to you to
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          2  make sure that we knew you were here testifying,

          3  giving testimony as an individual.  Well please let

          4  our employer know that as a stockholder of

          5  Metropolitan Life Insurance Company, let them know

          6  that I appreciate the fact that they offer domestic

          7  partner health insurance coverage.  And so I am

          8  very, very happy to hear that as a stockholder of

          9  Metropolitan Life Insurance Company.

         10                 But also, I want to say to you as

         11  someone who read your emails and took a position and

         12  stood up in order to bring a benefit on behalf of

         13  all of the people that work at Metropolitan Life,

         14  and I am sure that there is probably tens of

         15  thousands around the world, you are a hero for many,

         16  many of the people that work at Metropolitan Life,

         17  even though some of them may not know that you have

         18  been involved with that.  And I sort of look at you,

         19  and I see myself in some respect, that my

         20  involvement in education, I do not know if you are

         21  aware of this, but I started a lawsuit with Michael

         22  Rebel over 10 years ago.  And it took 10 years of

         23  litigation, and costs the parties, the State of New

         24  York and us, $40 million to litigate.  And finally,

         25  the highest court in the State of New York said that
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          2  we were right, that our children were being denied

          3  the opportunity for a sound, basic education based

          4  on the amount of money that was coming to New York

          5  City.  And as a result of that lawsuit, the highest

          6  court has ordered the Governor and the State

          7  Legislature to come up with enough money to provide

          8  1.1 million school children the opportunity for a

          9  sound basic education.

         10                 And let me tell you what that means

         11  as far as dollars and cents.  That will probably

         12  mean over the course of four years an additional

         13  seven to nine billion dollars.  That is the value of

         14  it.  And in reality the value of it is, is that you

         15  will have children that will graduate from high

         16  school knowing how to read, knowing how to write,

         17  knowing how to serve on a jury, being more

         18  understanding through learning of diversity of other

         19  people, not only in New York City, but around the

         20  world.  So in the long run it is better for society

         21  as a whole.

         22                 So you are a hero, and you stand, and

         23  I thank you for coming and giving testimony, and for

         24  standing up what you believe to be what is right

         25  overall.
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          2                 So I want to thank all three of you

          3  for coming in and giving testimony this morning.

          4  Thank you very much.

          5                 Our next panel is going to be Rabbi

          6  Valerie Lieber from the Temple Israel of Jamaica

          7  Queens, Terry Boggis from Center Kids, and Jeff

          8  Catonese, a personal story.  So please, welcome,

          9  come forward.  And if you have any testimony that

         10  you want to submit, please give it to the

         11  Sergeant-At-Arms.  Thank you.

         12                 MR. NEWMAN:  Please raise your hands.

         13                 Do you solemnly swear or affirm that

         14  the testimony you are about to give is the truth,

         15  the whole truth, and nothing but the truth?

         16                 MS. BOGGIS: I do.

         17                 RABBI LIEBER: I do.

         18                 MR. CATONESE: I do.

         19                 MR. NEWMAN:  Please state your names

         20  and affiliations for the record.

         21                 MS. BOGGIS:  I am Terry Boggis.  I am

         22  the Director of Center Kids, which is the family

         23  program of the Lesbian, Gay, Bisexual, and

         24  Transgender Community Center.

         25                 RABBI LIEBER:  I am Valerie Lieber,
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          2  Rabbi of Temple Israel of Jamaica, in Queens.

          3                 MR. CATONESE:  I am Jeff Catonese.  I

          4  am a citizen of New York City, and I am here

          5  representing myself and my partner, Marcy Applebaum.

          6                 CHAIRPERSON JACKSON:  And I am going

          7  to call in the order in which I called, so Rabbi

          8  Lieber, you are first, and then Terry, and then

          9  Jeff.

         10                 RABBI LIEBER:  Good morning, and

         11  thank you.

         12                 CHAIRPERSON JACKSON:  Rabbi, could

         13  you pull you mic a little bit closer?

         14                 RABBI LIEBER:  Yes.

         15                 CHAIRPERSON JACKSON:  Thank you.

         16                 RABBI LIEBER:  Good morning, and

         17  thank you, Councilman Jackson for having us here.  I

         18  do not have that much to add.  I think much of what

         19  is important has already been stated. I will just

         20  speak about the Jewish position about the issue that

         21  we are talking about, which is equal benefit, civil

         22  rights, greater coverage for medical benefits for

         23  people who live in the City, State, and in our

         24  Country.

         25                 One of the greatest values of Judaism

                                                            61

          1  COMMITTEE ON CONTRACTS

          2  is tikum olam, which is repairing of the world,

          3  which means righting the injustices that exist, and

          4  extending rights to those who have been

          5  disenfranchised or discriminated against.  We

          6  consider this not only something good on the liberal

          7  agenda, but really a mitzvah, something in Judaism that

          8  we believe that God wants of us and expects us to

          9  do.

         10                 So I believe it is an act of tikum

         11  olam to support this Bill 137.  Reformed Judaism,

         12  which is the branch of Judaism of which I, my

         13  congregation is affiliated, has a long history of

         14  fighting for equal rights for all of its citizens.

         15  And has been a supporter of equal rights in

         16  recognition of gay and lesbian individuals as far

         17  back as 1977.

         18                 The Reformed Movement has passed a

         19  resolution also supporting the Federal Bill ENDA,

         20  the Employment Non-Discrimination Act.  And so,

         21  certainly we will support this local act as well, I

         22  am sure.  We have also pushed for equal rights for

         23  all gay, lesbian, bisexual, and transgender people,

         24  including civil marriage.  And I am very proud that

         25  we are out in front on this, and that reformed Jews
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          2  generally around the country believe that this is a

          3  civil rights issue.  My synagogue, itself, in Queens

          4  is a mainstream Reformed Synagogue, the majority of

          5  whose members are heterosexual, although we have

          6  both gay and straight members.  And the majority of

          7  which are strongly in support of this, it is a very

          8  clear issue, very clear cut.  As my clergy colleague

          9  said before, it is a no-brainer for us as well.

         10                 So I would really like to encourage

         11  us to get the other members of City Council to sign

         12  onto this bill, and let's move forward.

         13                 CHAIRPERSON JACKSON:  Thank you,

         14  Rabbi.  And before we, Terry, before we go on, let

         15  me introduce my colleague, to my left is David

         16  Weprin, the Chair of the Finance Committee, and the

         17  Council Member from Queens.  David, do you have any

         18  statement?

         19                 COUNCIL MEMBER WEPRIN:  Well I just

         20  want to welcome Rabbi Lieber to City Hall.  She is a

         21  Rabbi of a congregation in my district, and she is

         22  doing an outstanding job, very well respected in the

         23  community, and I am constantly hearing great things

         24  about the work she is doing, not only throughout the

         25  City, but in particular in our district.  So I just
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          2  want to welcome you to City Hall.

          3                 CHAIRPERSON JACKSON:  Thank you.

          4  Terry Boggis, Center Kids.

          5                 MS. BOGGIS:  Thank you.  Good

          6  morning, my name is Terry Boggis, and I am the

          7  Director of Center Kids.  And as such, I represent

          8  2,500 families in the New York Metro Area.  For

          9  their sakes, I am so glad to be here this morning to

         10  encourage the broadening and deepening of domestic

         11  partnership legislation in New York City.  I am

         12  proud of the progress towards fundamental fairness

         13  this City can claim.  Okay, it is not San Francisco,

         14  but New York can hold its head up because there have

         15  been so many days like this one in recent history,

         16  resulting in real rights and real benefits for same

         17  sex couples and their families.  It is a long road

         18  to equality in this regard, but we appreciate that

         19  the City is moving in the right direction.

         20                 Our families reflect the range of

         21  circumstances of all New Yorkers.  We are all races,

         22  all religions, an array of nationalities, we

         23  struggle to access public assistance in the shelter

         24  system, and we are among the City's most affluent.

         25  But most of us are working families making the hard
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          2  choices that working couples with kids face.  Can

          3  one parent stay home with babies and small children

          4  while the other is bringing home the diapers?  Whose

          5  salary is bigger?  Whose career can withstand an

          6  absence?  Who has the better health insurance

          7  program?  Which of either employed benefits package

          8  includes on- site childcare, or childcare

          9  reimbursements?

         10                 The problem is most employers do not

         11  recognize our families as families.  Many of our

         12  parents do not even feel safe enough to tell their

         13  employers if they are gay, but even when they do

         14  they find that unless they are the biological

         15  parents of their children, they cannot extend their

         16  health insurance coverage to their kids.  And unless

         17  they are married, and do not get me started about

         18  that, neither can they extend their benefits to

         19  include their would be spouses.

         20                 My son is 15- years- old.  At this

         21  point, I am lucky to work for ran employer that

         22  considers us a family.  But this was not always the

         23  case.  I have worked for a university, a Wall Street

         24  firm, a national non- profit over the years, none of

         25  which provided domestic partnership benefits.  This

                                                            65

          1  COMMITTEE ON CONTRACTS

          2  fact has limited my employment options, and in large

          3  part determined where I work now.

          4                 The Equal Benefits Bill would ensure

          5  that lesbian, gay, bisexual, and transgender

          6  employees receive the same package of benefits

          7  offered to heterosexual employees.  That is fair,

          8  that is just.  For New York City to do business with

          9  companies that institutionalized bias against us is

         10  a situation that demands correction.  It is a matter

         11  of principle.  Our families are not theories, up for

         12  debate, out families are real, they exist, they pay

         13  taxes, they participate as citizens, they vote, they

         14  struggle to raise healthy kids, they go to work.

         15  When they get there, they need to find that they are

         16  fully included, not that they are effectively paid

         17  less for their work because their benefits packages

         18  are smaller.  This is really an equal pay for equal

         19  work issue.

         20                 Our 2,500 families could not be more

         21  sincere in our appreciation to City Council for this

         22  measure.  It is policies like this that keep us here

         23  in New York City, let's get this bill passed.

         24                 Thank you.

         25                 CHAIRPERSON JACKSON:  Thank you,
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          2  Terry.  Jeff.

          3                 MR. CANTONESE:  Good morning,

          4  Chairman Jackson, Council Member Quinn, I also would

          5  like to thank this Committee for meeting and holding

          6  this hearing.  I am here to lend my testimony in

          7  support of the Equal Benefits Bill for several

          8  reasons.

          9                 Because I believe in equality for all

         10  people.

         11                 Because I believe New York City

         12  should be a leader among the world's cities in

         13  extolling that quality.

         14                 But foremost, because the passing of

         15  this bill will impact me and my family greatly and

         16  immediately.

         17                 I recently started work at a New York

         18  City Environmental Firm that falls under all the

         19  provisions of this bill.  I am happy to say I am in

         20  receipt of a great benefits package, and for the

         21  first time in my adult life I have health insurance.

         22                 My domestic partner, Marcy Applebaum,

         23  however, is a freelance teacher who teaches music

         24  and drama to toddlers and pre teens in the City

         25  school system and in other venues here.  Because she
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          2  is a freelancer, she receives no benefits, no

          3  insurance, no security.  She would be here today

          4  testifying except for the fact that she has several

          5  classes, and being a freelancer she could not take

          6  time off as she pleases.

          7                 The reason we registered as domestic

          8  partners was a direct result of reading accounts of

          9  the aftermath of 9/11.  Many couples gay and

         10  straight, who live together, loved each other, and

         11  were financially dependent on each other could get

         12  no benefits or emergency funds in the wake of that

         13  great tragedy.  In addition, these people could not

         14  visit their wounded partners in the hospital, not

         15  could they even find out if their loved one was

         16  among the living or the dead.  It was at that point

         17  that we decided we had to do something to make sure

         18  that these tragedies would not be our own.

         19                 Marcy and I had been seeing each

         20  other, or have been seeing each other for eight

         21  years now, we have lived together for five years,

         22  and after reviewing our options, we registered as

         23  domestic partners in 2002.  Domestic partnership

         24  covered all the bases we wanted to cover legally,

         25  and we found it was the most pertinent choice for us
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          2  in accordance with how we live our lives. The

          3  domestic partner laws in New York City allow for

          4  some of the benefits and the filling out of health

          5  proxies, wills, and a few other standard legal

          6  documents allowed for others.  However, those

          7  couples who do not, or cannot get married, whether

          8  by choice or by law, or due to other factors are

          9  left out in the cold when it comes to workplace

         10  benefits.  According to the US Census Bureau, more

         11  than one-fourth of Americans work for an employer

         12  that offers domestic partner benefits.  Most of

         13  these employers have offered these benefits of their

         14  own volition, and that is wonderful. However, those

         15  numbers do not include freelancers and others who

         16  work for themselves.  These freelancers are health

         17  care givers, teachers, small business owners,

         18  writers and editors, graphic artists, consultants,

         19  technicians, service professionals, and child care

         20  providers.  People without any health benefits clean

         21  our homes, watch and teach our children, and serve

         22  our meals, as well as largely keep our electronic

         23  infrastructure humming and write the words we use in

         24  our jobs, and our education.

         25                 What I mean to emphasize is that many
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          2  of these individuals might qualify for benefits, if

          3  this bill is passed. And make no mistakes, this is

          4  not a gay rights bill, or an alternative to marriage

          5  bill, this is a health care bill.  In New York City

          6  there are over 3,000 couples registered as domestic

          7  partners, most of them are heterosexual.  There are,

          8  of course, many more that are co-habituating, but

          9  not registered.  The passage of this bill may likely

         10  cause a small and temporary increase in the

         11  frequency of domestic partner registrations.  But

         12  even as those numbers will go up, we are already

         13  seeing on the nationwide scale frequency of marriage

         14  numbers go down.  To claim that the passage of this

         15  bill will result in financial calamity is frankly a

         16  wash.

         17                 Beyond the health care issue, of

         18  course, is a call for equality.  As a boy I believed

         19  that our country stood for the equality of all its

         20  citizens, growing up to realize that the world is a

         21  far more complex place than my childhood would have

         22  me hold, has not ended that belief.  It is still

         23  hard for me to imagine that any bill with the word

         24  equal in its title coming before any Municipal,

         25  state or federal government in meeting opposition,
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          2  be it equal rights, equal opportunity, and now equal

          3  benefits.  There are over 25 million working age

          4  adults without health care in the United States

          5  right now.  The passing of this bill will make that

          6  number, as far as I know, one less, but to me, she

          7  is the most important one that there is.  And I

          8  think all the people that this bill will affect,

          9  could say the exact same thing about their partner.

         10                 Bills and laws, such as this one are

         11  coming to cities, counties, states, provinces, and

         12  municipalities, and entire countries throughout the

         13  world.  In fact, they are already here. It is time

         14  for such measures.  New York City is following the

         15  cities of Los Angeles, San Francisco, Seattle,

         16  Minneapolis, as well as a couple of others, and the

         17  whole State of California with similar bills.  Now

         18  it is time for the Mayor of the greatest city in the

         19  world to step up and lead the rest of them.

         20                 I would also like to, at this point,

         21  point out, and please correct me if I am wrong, that

         22  I noticed that my own City Council Member Peter

         23  Vallone has not stepped up to co-sponsor this bill.

         24  And there in Astoria we have many people, many of

         25  whom I know personally who this bill would affect.
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          2  And it is time for him to step up and represent his

          3  constituency also.

          4                 Thank you very much for your time.

          5                 CHAIRPERSON JACKSON:  Thank you,

          6  Jeff.  Well one of the things, as I think my

          7  colleagues indicated, there are approximately around

          8  12 or 13 members that have not signed on, and if you

          9  feel you need to reach out to him or to communicate

         10  with people that you know.  As you know, when an

         11  elected representative receives phone calls and

         12  letters and emails from more than one individual,

         13  they tend to take notice.  And so, depending on how

         14  important this issue is to you, you have to press

         15  your elected representatives to sign on, or face the

         16  consequences of not.  So, I will leave that up to

         17  you and the constituents of his Councilmanic

         18  District.

         19                 Any comments from anyone?  Council

         20  Member Yvette Clarke of Brooklyn.

         21                 COUNCIL MEMBER CLARKE:  Thank you,

         22  Mr. Chair, and thank you, Council Member Quinn, you

         23  have certainly been an outstanding leader in this

         24  Council, and certainly someone that I have looked to

         25  in terms real understanding of various issues in the
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          2  Council, being one of our more seasoned members

          3  here.

          4                 I just wanted to state a couple of

          5  things, because I have been here listening to the

          6  testimony.  You know, I think as New Yorkers we are

          7  probably more keenly aware of the fact that tomorrow

          8  is not promised to anyone.  Having shared the

          9  collective experience of 9/11, and just our day- to-

         10  day operations and understanding the challenges that

         11  we face in terms of our civility, I see Intro. 137

         12  as really moving us to another level of

         13  strengthening the evolution and landscape of our

         14  human family.

         15                 People have been talking a lot about

         16  the health benefit that is here.  But I looked at

         17  this briefing, and there are a number of things that

         18  we sort of take for granted.  Things like, life

         19  insurance, things like pensions, things like family

         20  bereavement and sick leave, relocation benefits,

         21  access to employers facilities and membership.

         22  Things like education and tuition assistance,

         23  parental leave.  These are all quality of life

         24  issues that are part of our employment experience,

         25  separate and apart from, of course, our primary
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          2  concern of our health, which enables us to enjoy a

          3  certain level of quality of life.

          4                 But I think these are all things that

          5  many of us in this society take for granted.  And as

          6  I sat here just sort of listening and absorbing the

          7  various points of view and testimony, I thought

          8  about, you know, how it feels oftentimes to be

          9  excited about things that take place in our society,

         10  the innovations that take place.  And then when I

         11  look out and see who is actually participating in

         12  those innovations, it does not necessarily reflect

         13  me.  And I do not know how many of you sitting out

         14  there experience that, that initial feeling of, this

         15  is great.  And then you look at who is

         16  participating, and it does not really reflect you.

         17                 And so I say today, that Intro. 137

         18  takes us to that level where we need to be as a

         19  City.  It takes us to where we need to be as a

         20  society, quite frankly.  There are a lot of issues

         21  that have surfaced recently in terms of the

         22  leadership of our nation with respect to taking,

         23  drawing lines in the sand about who we are as human

         24  beings.  And I think, you know, that is another

         25  discussion for another day.  But certainly at the
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          2  local level where we can begin to, as I say, put our

          3  foot in the door so that others can run in, this

          4  goes a long way to putting our foot in that door.

          5  And I hope that we will burst the door down.  And I

          6  hope that we will create even more avenues for us to

          7  exercise our humanity in its best form.

          8                 Equality is something that I think we

          9  often take for granted.  And people have different

         10  visions of what equality is. I am a Black woman who

         11  is left- handed, you know.  And I have my own

         12  issues.  They need not be predominant issues in our

         13  society.  And there was a time when they would chop

         14  off left- handed people's, you know, left hand.  But

         15  we have risen above that to a very large extent.

         16  And today we want to rise above this type of blatant

         17  discrimination against our humanity.

         18                 And you can certainly count on me,

         19  Council members, to vote enthusiastically for the

         20  passage of 137, as well as lobby to my colleagues

         21  who have yet to see fit to be on this legislation,

         22  to make sure that we make a resounding, unified

         23  voice for the passage of the equal benefits bill.

         24                 Thank you.

         25                 CHAIRPERSON JACKSON:  Thank you,
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          2  Council Member Clarke.  I mean you are very, very

          3  clear in your message, and I think that is what it

          4  takes, people standing up for equal rights,

          5  regardless of your race, color, creed, national

          6  origin, sexual orientation, or any other category

          7  that someone may want to discriminate against an

          8  individual.  So, equal work for equal pay, that is

          9  pretty simple.

         10                 With that, I want to, Council Member

         11  Quinn.

         12                 COUNCIL MEMBER QUINN:  Also again, I

         13  do not have a question, but wanted to thank the

         14  panel very much.  And you know, Jeff, I just wanted

         15  to say in response to your testimony, as the Chair

         16  mentioned, you know, this is a very important issue

         17  to the LBGT community, but clearly the fact that,

         18  you know, close to 70, 75 percent of the folks who

         19  have already enrolled in the registry that they are

         20  heterosexual couples certainly, and your testimony

         21  reinforces it, sends a message that this is actually

         22  is something that is important to all New Yorkers.

         23  I mean is some ways paramount the LBGT community

         24  because we do not have the choice, but I think your

         25  testimony is very important to remind us that when
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          2  we do this bill, do it for all New Yorkers, and that

          3  marriage is a way for people to affirm and commit

          4  their relationships, but it should not be the only

          5  way.  You know, and that kind of insight into the

          6  personal discussions you and partner had about

          7  choosing that this was better for you than marriage

          8  is very important.  And we should be a city that

          9  gives people options and choices and recognizes the

         10  difference and the diversity in relationships.

         11                 And I want to thank you for reminding

         12  us of that, and also say, you know when you spoke of

         13  your partner who is a freelancer.  I Chair the

         14  Council's Health Committee, and you know, recently

         15  we have been having a lot of discussions about

         16  insurance. And there was a study done recently by

         17  Working Today, a really outstanding organization

         18  that helps provides insurance coverage to

         19  independent workers, and they found that to be able

         20  to afford just a basic insurance coverage in this

         21  City if you are a freelance worker, you need to make

         22  $100,000 a year.  That is a lot of money. And most

         23  independent workers, consultants, et cetera do not

         24  make it, and they end up in a horrible position.  So

         25  it is important to remind us that this will help

                                                            77

          1  COMMITTEE ON CONTRACTS

          2  with that.

          3                 And Council Member Weprin apologized

          4  for having to leave, but again, went on and on about

          5  how great you are doing. But he said you lived in my

          6  district, so I agreed we would share you.  Council

          7  Member Weprin and I, both claim credit for you, I do

          8  not know if it is true, about where you live.  Oh,

          9  so we are all going to take credit for you, I think,

         10  and for your strong commitment on behalf of civil

         11  rights in the City.  So thank you.

         12                 And Terry, I just want to thank you

         13  for sending a message that gets overlooked, that

         14  LGBT people have families.  They have children, and

         15  they are just like every other New Yorker in that

         16  regard.  Because sometimes I think we end up getting

         17  characterized as only individuals, only men, only

         18  people with a lot of money, and that is not true.

         19  And that what we are doing today, we will also be

         20  doing for the children of so many of our families.

         21                 So thank you all.

         22                 CHAIRPERSON JACKSON:  And just

         23  finally, and Jeff, I think it is important, you said

         24  that your Council member had not signed on.  I think

         25  it is important that individuals that are
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          2  communicating with Council members that have not

          3  signed on, that if you look at all of the people

          4  that have registered as domestic partners.  You know

          5  this is not about a gay and lesbian or transgender

          6  or bisexual bill, this is about domestic partners,

          7  and over 75 percent of the people that are

          8  registered as domestic partners are men and women.

          9  So maybe they have a misconception in their mind,

         10  but it does not really matter, we need to be able to

         11  educate.  Education is a key, we need to educate

         12  people that this is about equal work for equal pay,

         13  and no one should be discriminated against,

         14  regardless of their relationships in the family.

         15  So, I just wanted to say that, that is an important

         16  thing to communicate the Council members that have

         17  not signed on.

         18                 I want to thank the panel for coming

         19  in.  And the next panel is Carl, from the Commission

         20  of the Public's Health System.  I do not want to

         21  mess up your last name.  Carl, what is your last

         22  name?  Thelemaque, Carl, and Jeff Stone from Dignity

         23  New York.  Frances McCue from Domestic Partners

         24  Benefit Bill, and Gary Spokes, is Gary here?  Gary,

         25  come on up, we are going to get a chair for you.
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          2  What did you say?  No, this is the last panel, so

          3  ladies and gentlemen, if you would be patient, this

          4  is going to be the last panel, okay.  All right, so

          5  get another chair up for you, Gary.

          6                 COUNCIL MEMBER QUINN:  Mr. Chair, if

          7  I could just announce for folks, this is the last

          8  panel, but we are going to be doing a press

          9  conference at 12:30 in support of the bill, so if

         10  people could hang around a little.

         11                 CHAIRPERSON JACKSON:  Okay, press

         12  conference at 12:30, okay very good.

         13                 Okay, members of the panel, would you

         14  please raise your right hand?  Do you swear or

         15  affirm that they testimony you are about to give is

         16  the truth, the whole truth?

         17                 MR. SPOKES: I do.

         18                 MR. THELEMAQUE: I do.

         19                 MR. STONE: I do.

         20                 MS. MCCUE: I do.

         21                 CHAIRPERSON JACKSON:  Okay, with that

         22  I am going to ask you to first, each and every one

         23  of you introduce yourself as far as on the record,

         24  and who you are representing, whether you are

         25  representing an organization or representing
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          2  yourself.  And we will start with you, on the

          3  record.  Just introduce yourself, and then pass the

          4  mic over to the next person, we do not want you to

          5  read your testimony right now.

          6                 MR. SPOKES:  My name is Gary Spokes.

          7  I am a card carrying member of Dignity New York.  I

          8  also for the last 19 years worked right across the

          9  street from the City Council's Chamber at Pace

         10  University, during the last five years of that I was

         11  on the Benefits Committee.  I am very proud to

         12  report that our last official act before I retired

         13  was to change the rules for domestic partners so

         14  that now same sex couples need only show that they

         15  have registered with the City of New York as

         16  domestic partners, or that they exchanged vows in

         17  any country on the face of the earth where it is

         18  legal for gays to marry, or in a civil union in

         19  Vermont, or any other place that may subsequently

         20  pass regulations that will permit this.

         21                 MR. THELEMAQUE:  Carl Thelemaque,

         22  Commission on the Public's Health System.

         23                 CHAIRPERSON JACKSON:  Okay.

         24                 MR. STONE:  Jeff Stone, I am the

         25  representative of Dignity New York, which are gay,
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          2  lesbian, bisexual, and transgender Catholics.

          3                 CHAIRPERSON JACKSON:  Okay.

          4                 MS. MCCUE:  Frances McCue,

          5  representing myself and my partner.

          6                 CHAIRPERSON JACKSON:  Okay, Greg we

          7  are going to start with you.  Greg?

          8                 MR. SPOKES:  Gary.

          9                 CHAIRPERSON JACKSON:  Gary, I am

         10  sorry.  Gary Spokes.  Gary, use the mic if you do

         11  not mind.

         12                 MR. SPOKES:  I am Gary Spokes.  I

         13  live in the Chelsea section of Manhattan, and would

         14  like to speak in favor of the Equal Benefits Bill

         15  sponsored by my Council member, Christine Quinn, and

         16  in opposition of the position that I assume the

         17  Archdiocese of New York will take.

         18                 And in this I would like to draw the

         19  attention of my fellow Roman Catholics of the

         20  reading that we have all heard from the Gospel of

         21  Luke this past Sunday, in which Jesus challenges

         22  those who would follow him to love your enemies.

         23  Reminding us also that there are no brownie points

         24  in heaven for loving those who agree with us in all

         25  things.
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          2                 In this I wish to echo the words of

          3  Rick Garcia of Equality Illinois who delivered to

          4  his Bishop, Francis Cardinal George of Chicago, on

          5  February 14th, a statement which includes some

          6  challenges about what love does not mean.  In that

          7  he said, you cannot say you love somebody, and then

          8  deny them housing or employment.  You cannot say you

          9  love somebody, and promote myths and stereotypes

         10  about them.  Rick then reminded his Bishop of the

         11  great saying of the Great Bishop of Hippo, in

         12  Africa, Saint Augustine, there is no love without

         13  justice.

         14                 I wish to remind my Bishop, Edward

         15  Cardinal Egan, that this great saying on love was

         16  the motto on the great shield of his predecessor,

         17  John Cardinal O'Connor, who found himself in the

         18  position several decades ago similar to the one our

         19  current Bishop occupies today.  I speak of the great

         20  controversy then surrounding the granting of equal

         21  right in housing, employment, and accommodation to

         22  the gay and lesbian citizens of New York City,

         23  shortly after Cardinal O'Connor was elevated.

         24                 Today's bill simply extends upon

         25  those rights on the 10th Anniversary of the landmark
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          2  bill, Cardinal O'Connor admitted in an interview

          3  that none of the things that he had feared a decade

          4  earlier, had materialized as a result of Intro. 2.

          5  Over time, Cardinal O'Connor mellowed toward us even

          6  further, eventually withdrawing church opposition

          7  for the inclusion of gay and lesbian persons in the

          8  New York State Hate Crimes Bill.

          9                 About this time, he also began to

         10  include a statement against anti- gay violence in

         11  the homily he delivered on Gay Pride Sunday at Saint

         12  Patrick's Cathedral.  The following is quote from

         13  one of those statements, which was delivered as a

         14  Prelude to his Homily on Catholic Health Care.

         15   "Because there is a major parade that takes place

         16  on Fifth Avenue today and passes the Cathedral,

         17  permit me to remind everyone here that whatever your

         18  attitudes or beliefs about the parade today, called

         19  The Gay Pride Parade, nothing gives any Christian

         20  the right to hatred or to the expression of violence

         21  in any form in thought, word, or action against

         22  those who choose to profess a lifestyle or a set of

         23  values with which Christians disagree.  Our Lord

         24  gave his followers only one criteria for identifying

         25  themselves as his followers, that you love one
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          2  another.  Please do not believe for a moment that

          3  you would be defending the Church or advancing

          4  Church teaching by expressions of hatred.  Disagree

          5  with whatever you may disagree with, but love the

          6  individual whose actions or words may provoke your

          7  disagreement, that is the way of our Lord."  Those

          8  are Cardinal O'Connor's words prefacing a Homily on

          9  Gay Pride Sunday two years before he died.  And it

         10  was posted on the Cathedral's site on- line.

         11                 Let me emphasize, again, his

         12  opposition in that homily to violence in any form,

         13  in thought, word, or action, especially word.  For

         14  it is the hate- filled words that our Church uses to

         15  stereotypes us as intrinsically disorder toward a

         16  moral evil that sets the moral challenge for the

         17  faithful, and leads some of them to believe that

         18  there is an escape clause in the teachings of the

         19  magisterium of our church that trumps the word of

         20  the Lord, and permits them to treat us with contempt

         21  by denying us our equal, not special, but equal

         22  civil rights.

         23                 In addition to reminding our Cardinal

         24  Archbishop of the words of Saint Augustine that

         25  served as the model of his predecessor, I would also
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          2  like to remind him of the distinction that Saint

          3  Augustine made between the civil law and church law.

          4    In this, the Bishop reminded Catholics that even

          5  though the Church preached against fornication, that

          6  is sexual relations outside of marriage, it did not

          7  condemn the civil authority for permitting and

          8  regulating prostitution.  Why?  Because prostitution

          9  was a lessor evil, a safety valve, as it were, which

         10  helped to prevent the greater evil of rape by

         11  persons who were unable to marry and were not

         12  directly and unequivocally been called, not

         13  compelled, to live a life of celibacy.

         14                 I encourage our bishops to accept

         15  Saint Augustine's distinction between the civil law,

         16  especially as it is legislated in a pluralistic

         17  culture, and canon law  and not resist the civil

         18  authority from granting equal rights to all of its

         19  citizens, even those they may view as living in sin.

         20                 We further hope, naturally, that our

         21  bishops will one day come to realize that we really

         22  are not intrinsically disordered, nor is the

         23  expression of our love a moral evil.  We even dared

         24  to hope that some day they will withdraw their

         25  objection to the idea of civil unions for gay and
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          2  lesbian persons.

          3                 Unfortunately, we realize that change

          4  typically comes very slowly to our Church.  Still,

          5  we make bold to hope that it will not take longer

          6  than the rehabilitation of Galileo, which took 350

          7  years.

          8                 CHAIRPERSON JACKSON:  Carl, you are

          9  next.

         10                 MR. THELEMAQUE:  Thank you for the

         11  opportunity to testify.

         12                 CHAIRPERSON JACKSON:  Pull your mic

         13  up, Carl, please.  Thank you.

         14                 MR. THELEMAQUE:  Thank you for the

         15  opportunity to testify on this very important bill.

         16  The Commission of the Public's Health System

         17  endorses the Equal Benefits Bill as an important

         18  step to the City that the City can and should take.

         19                 My name is Carl Thelemaque, and I am

         20  the Education Outreach Coordinator for the

         21  Commission on the Public's Health System.  The

         22  Commission is a citywide, community- based, health

         23  advocacy organization that provides policy analysis,

         24  research, training and education, and organizing on

         25  public health issues.  We are strong advocates for
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          2  access to health care services regardless of ability

          3  to pay, language spoken, race and/or ethnicity, or

          4  diagnosis.

          5                 The Commission spend a great deal of

          6  our time focusing on access to public health

          7  insurance and ways to expand health insurance

          8  coverage, be it through public or private health

          9  insurance.  In 2000, the Commissioner released a

         10  report entitled Placing a human Face onto he

         11  Uninsured, after having interviewed over 50 New

         12  Yorkers who have no health insurance.  We all know

         13  the horrendous statistics, now one in four non-

         14  elderly New Yorkers have no converge, or 1.8 million

         15  residents.  But we wanted people to recognize that

         16  the issue affects all of us, and that we were all

         17  vulnerable to being uncovered.  We also wanted to

         18  let people know the consequences of being uninsured.

         19    So we found city residents who were willing to

         20  share their stories.  We have brought copies of this

         21  report to share with Council members, and more are

         22  available by contacting our office.

         23                 The Commissioner also conducted a

         24  study, with funding from The New York Community

         25  Trust and the United Hospital Fund, in which we
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          2  interviewed 75 community- based organizations in New

          3  York City, to learn what these groups know about the

          4  Health Care Safety Net.  We learned, unfortunately

          5  that most organizations do not know the policies of

          6  health care providers about treating the uninsured

          7  and underinsured.  Most of the groups send people to

          8  the emergency room, even if they do not have an

          9  emergency, an most unacceptable place to receive

         10  health care services unless you are in serious

         11  trouble.

         12                 This is important to tell you,

         13  because contrary to popular opinion, having no

         14  health insurance in this city or in this country

         15  means a very hard time getting needed medical

         16  attention. Having health insurance is not a total

         17  guarantee that you will receive or you will be seen

         18  because there are other barriers other than the

         19  financial one, but it does mean that an important

         20  barrier is removed.

         21                 In New York City there are about 1.8

         22  million people living without health insurance

         23  coverage, or 1 in 4 non- elderly residents.  In the

         24  United States that number rises to almost 44

         25  million.  A huge majority of the uninsured are
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          2  employed, or are the family or dependents of people

          3  who work.  A recent publication by the Institute of

          4  Medicine, a very prestigious nonprofit organization

          5  that provides health policy advice under a

          6  Congressional Charter entitled, Insuring America's

          7  Health: Principles and Recommendations.  Although

          8  much has been written about the consequences of lack

          9  of insurance, such as delaying care, going to a

         10  doctor when the person is much sicker, dying because

         11  of lack of care, and needing to declare bankruptcy

         12  because of medical bills, this report quantifies the

         13  impact financially and otherwise. Two important

         14  examples of this are:

         15                 The poorer health due to uninsured is

         16  estimated to cost us between 65 and 130 billion

         17  dollars annually.

         18                 Uninsured adults have a higher risk

         19  of dying before age 65, than do insured adults,

         20  resulting in roughly 18,000 excess deaths annually.

         21                 As you can tell from just these two

         22  statements alone, providing health insurance to

         23  people is not a luxury, it is a necessity.  We urge

         24  you to remember this when you are voting on the

         25  Equal Benefits Bill, which would offer coverage to
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          2  more New Yorkers.  Thank you.

          3                 Jeff Stone, Dignity New York.  Let

          4  me, just for my clarification, Jeff, are you putting

          5  forward the position of the organization, you

          6  represent Dignity New York, or did Gary put forward?

          7    Because my understanding, Gary, you are a member,

          8  but you are not the representative that is giving

          9  testimony, you gave personal testimony, is that

         10  correct?  Okay.

         11                 MR. STONE:  That is correct, Mr.

         12  Chairman.

         13                 CHAIRPERSON JACKSON:   Okay, go

         14  ahead, please.

         15                 MR. STONE:  Thank you for giving me

         16  the opportunity to address you today.  My name is

         17  Jeff Stone, and I am a representative of Dignity/New

         18  York, and independent organization of gay, lesbian,

         19  bisexual, transgender Catholics and our supporters.

         20  I am here to offer our enthusiastic support for the

         21  Equal Benefits Bill before you.

         22                 Dignity/New York has ministered to

         23  thousands of gay Catholics in the Metropolitan area

         24  for nearly 32 years.  We are a chapter of a national

         25  organization, Dignity/USA, with chapters across the
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          2  United States, that has worked for almost 3 years

          3  for equality, for GLBT people in the Catholic Church

          4  and in our society.

          5                 I would like to specifically address

          6  the request of Catholic Charities of the Archdiocese

          7  of New York for a religious exemption from the

          8  requirements of this legislation.  Among our members

          9  in Dignity/New York, we have many people who work

         10  for the Catholic Church, or for an institution run

         11  by the Catholic Church. Some are in domestic

         12  partnerships under the laws of this city, and others

         13  have been married or are about to be married under

         14  the laws of other cities, states, and countries.  To

         15  exemption, the Catholic Church from this legislation

         16  would deny our members and others in long- term

         17  partnerships the right to benefits that would be

         18  enjoyed by domestic partners employed by non-

         19  religious organizations. Clearly, the same argument

         20  would apply to religious organizations of any kind,

         21  and we do not believe that nay of them should be

         22  exempted from this legislation.

         23                 When similar legislation was proposed

         24  in San Francisco several years ago, the Catholic

         25  Church there reached an agreement with the City that
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          2  allowed the Church to keep its contracts without

          3  compromising any of its teachings.  The Archdiocese

          4  of San Francisco agreed to offer each worker spousal

          5  type benefits that would go to any one person of

          6  that worker's choice, whether husband, wife,

          7  domestic partner, companion, relative, or whoever

          8  the worker might designate.  Surely a similar

          9  agreement here in New York City would preserve the

         10  dignity of all and serve the best interests of all.

         11                 The bishops of the Catholic Church

         12  have made their opposition to domestic partnerships

         13  and same- sex civil marriage loud and clear.  At the

         14  same time, the Church teaches that homosexual people

         15  are entitled to respect and understanding, and

         16  should not be unjustly discriminated against.  In

         17  our view, to deny equal benefits to domestic

         18  partners under a religious exemption would be a form

         19  of blatantly unjust discrimination.

         20                 Furthermore, we know that a large

         21  percentage of Catholic lay people disagree with

         22  their bishops on same sex issues. A poll taken last

         23  November by the Boston Herald showed that 41 percent

         24  of Massachusetts Catholics were in favor of civil

         25  marriage for same-sex couple.  A Zogby International
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          2  survey taken last July showed that 57 percent of New

          3  jersey Catholics supported same- sex civil marriage.

          4    A leading, liberal Catholic publication, the

          5  National Catholic Reporter, published an editorial

          6  strongly in favor of same-sex civil marriage in its

          7  February 20, 2004, edition. The editorial is

          8  reportedly being passed among state legislators in

          9  Massachusetts, where the population is approximately

         10  fifty percent Catholic.

         11                 The editorial states, in part,

         12   "...there are nay number of areas where church

         13  teaching and state laws or policies

         14  divergent...without harm to the Church's teaching or

         15  religious practice.  The Church maintains strict

         16  rules regarding divorce, for example, but does

         17  little officially to interfere with the State's

         18  rather relaxed approach to granting divorce.  And

         19  although a divorced and remarried Catholic might be

         20  prohibited from receiving Communion, the Church does

         21  not seek to deny that person civil benefits, because

         22  his or her sexual practices might violate the

         23  Church's understanding of God's law and natural law.

         24    It should also be noted that the official Church

         25  teaching on homosexuality, relying on ancient
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          2  understandings of human nature and sexuality, has

          3  benefited little, as far as we can see, from new and

          4  accumulating insights in the study of such areas as

          5  sexuality, psychiatry, and medicine.

          6                 In terms of Scripture, too, we should

          7  not lose sight of the fact that slavery was once not

          8  only accepted, but taught from our sacred texts.

          9  Our understanding of that bit of natural law and

         10  God's order has certainly changed dramatically

         11  during the past century.  Too often Scripture is

         12  used to justify long- held notions and prejudices,

         13  following popular opinion as much as it might shape

         14  it."

         15                 In conclusion, the members of

         16  Dignity/New York urge you not to grant any religious

         17  exemptions to the Equal Benefits Bill.  We believe

         18  that such exemptions would cause needless harm to

         19  thousands of people, whatever their sexual

         20  orientation, who are living in domestic

         21  partnerships.  Furthermore, we believe that

         22  religious institutions can comply with this

         23  legislation in ways that do not compromise their

         24  religious principles, as demonstrated in San

         25  Francisco.
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          2                 Thank you for this opportunity to

          3  speak to you.

          4                 CHAIRPERSON JACKSON:  Thank you for

          5  coming in. Frances, last, but not least.

          6                 MS. MCCUE:  My name is Frances McCue

          7  and I thank you for the opportunity to speak.  When

          8  I filled out the paper, I did not realize that I was

          9  going to speak, it was just in support of this bill.

         10    But I would like to say that my partner and I are

         11  registered domestic partners, and we have been

         12  together for 41 years.

         13                 After 20 years, she was very sick

         14  with Lupus, and she was without any medical

         15  insurance at all.  She had to leave her job, and she

         16  was denied SSA and had to go on Welfare, and go and

         17  take Medicaid.  And as a result, during this period

         18  of time, she became very sick, and we had children,

         19  and it was a very devastating time for us.

         20                 So I support this bill fully, and I

         21  did not expect to speak, but thank you very much for

         22  the opportunity.

         23                 CHAIRPERSON JACKSON:  Frances, thank

         24  you for having the courage to step forward and speak

         25  about your situation and your support for this bill.
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          2                 With that, I am going to turn to my

          3  colleague, Margarita Lopez of Manhattan.

          4                 COUNCIL MEMBER LOPEZ: Frances, I just

          5  want to tell you that, you know, people are out

          6  there that said that we are not interested in being

          7  stable.  You are living proof that 41 years,

          8  perhaps, qualifies for that stability, right?

          9                 MS. MCCUE:  I think so.

         10                 COUNCIL MEMBER LOPEZ:  I guess so,

         11  right.  I just have one question because there is a

         12  notion out there that theologically speaking the

         13  teachings of the Church have something to do with

         14  giving or not giving health care to people.  Do you

         15  know of any theological mandate inside of the

         16  structures of the Church that said that health care

         17  provision of services to human beings given to them

         18  in any way possible, be it through a domestic

         19  partnership relationship, or be by the Public Health

         20  System put in place, that theologically speaking

         21  this is a no- no?

         22                 MR. STONE:  No, I do not, Council

         23  member, I do not know of any such teaching.  In

         24  fact, Catholic Social Justice teaching has generally

         25  been in favor of such measures, and in favor of

                                                            97

          1  COMMITTEE ON CONTRACTS

          2  labor laws and union activity, and so on and so

          3  forth.  I think it is tragic that the Church is

          4  barking on this issue.

          5                 COUNCIL MEMBER LOPEZ:  Then

          6  theologically speaking it is not a subject for the

          7  Church to be speaking on it, because it is not part

          8  of theology, this business of providing or not

          9  providing medical services to people.

         10                 MR. STONE:  To my knowledge, no, it

         11  is not a part of theology.

         12                 COUNCIL MEMBER LOPEZ:  Do you

         13  acknowledge that it is true or not that the medical

         14  benefit to people born out of the struggles of

         15  workers who became unionized in order to get help

         16  for themselves because they were being killed by the

         17  work that they did in the places that they were

         18  doing.  And in order for them to get health

         19  services, they fought for this right.  Are you aware

         20  of that?

         21                 MR. STONE:  Yes, I am.  And I am

         22  aware that the Catholic Church generally supported

         23  that fight very strongly.  It has a long history of

         24  supporting that kind of fight, and we wish it would

         25  come in on the side of this fight.

                                                            98

          1  COMMITTEE ON CONTRACTS

          2                 COUNCIL MEMBER LOPEZ:  So to bring

          3  this inside of the theological belief is nonsense.

          4                 MR. STONE:  I would agree with you.

          5                 COUNCIL MEMBER LOPEZ:  Thank you.

          6                 CHAIRPERSON JACKSON:  Carl, you

          7  mentioned a report, do you have a copy of that?

          8  Because have you submitted a copy to us in advance?

          9                 MR. THELEMAQUE:  No.

         10                 CHAIRPERSON JACKSON:  Is it available

         11  on your Web site?

         12                 MR. THELEMAQUE:  Yes, it is available

         13  on our Web site, and I can make it available to you.

         14                 CHAIRPERSON JACKSON:  Yes, because I

         15  mean you refer to that and I would like to have a

         16  copy for the record.  So if you could provide a copy

         17  to our office, we would appreciate it very much.

         18                 MR. THELEMAQUE:  Sure will.

         19                 CHAIRPERSON JACKSON:  I want to thank

         20  all of you for coming in.  Let me just tell you

         21  where we are going from here, the collective you.

         22  This is the second hearing on this bill.  March is

         23  typically the month of preliminary budget hearings,

         24  so we will have budget hearings during the month of

         25  March.  There are normally no other hearings that
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          2  are scheduled except budget hearings in March. We

          3  will be listening to other individuals that have

          4  opinions about this particular matter.  When I say

          5  we, the Counsel for the Committee, Robert Newman,

          6  and the lead point person on this, Christine Quinn,

          7  along with myself as the Chair of the Contracts

          8  Committee.  And then sometime later, maybe April,

          9  give or take there will be another hearing where

         10  maybe it will be voted out at that time.

         11                 From a process point of view, once a

         12  bill is voted out of Committee, then it goes to the

         13  full Council for consideration.  Assuming that the

         14  full Council will vote this bill, then at that point

         15  in time when the full Council meets, it will then be

         16  sent to the Office of the Mayor, for the Mayor's

         17  signature. Once it is sent, the Mayor has 30 days to

         18  either sign it into law, or to veto the bill.  We

         19  hope that the Mayor will sign it into law, but let's

         20  assume the worst case scenario, if the Mayor vetoes

         21  the bill, then it will come back to the full

         22  Council.

         23                 And from a procedural point view, the

         24  Speaker will then assign it back to the Contracts

         25  Committee for reconsideration of the Mayor's veto.
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          2  And what will happen thereafter is that the

          3  Contracts Committee will probably vote it out again

          4  to override the Mayor's veto, and then come to the

          5  full Council again to override the Mayor's veto.

          6  Once that happens, once we override the Mayor's veto

          7  in the full Council, it then becomes law.

          8                 So from the time frame point of view,

          9  it can be anywhere from approximately two and one-

         10  half months to five months, give or take, before

         11  this bill comes into law.  I just want to give you a

         12  time frame, because all of it is, you know, give or

         13  take 30 days here or there, knowing that we are

         14  going directly into the budget cycle.  Preliminary

         15  budget hearings are in March, and then in April we

         16  have Executive Budget hearings, is that correct?  In

         17  May, I am sorry, in May we have Executive Budget

         18  hearings.  And then in June we pass the budget.  And

         19  obviously, the budget, we do not have any choice, we

         20  must pass the budget into law by June 30th. So

         21  understand the time frames as to where we are going.

         22    And if you have any questions about this

         23  particular bill, or the time frames, or anything

         24  like that, you can contact Council Member Quinn's

         25  Office, or contact my Office, or our Counsel, Robert
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          2  Newman.

          3                 And again, I would like to thank all

          4  of the staff that have been involved thus far,

          5  Robert Newman from the Council's Office, he is the

          6  Counsel of this Committee.  Regina Poreda, over to

          7  my left, is from our Finance Committee, she is

          8  assigned to this Committee.  And of course, Council

          9  Member Quinn's staff, Karen Merrowitz, Jeremy

         10  Hoffman, and Peter Rider, and Joe McNooney of my

         11  staff.

         12                 And with that, I would like to thank

         13  all of you for coming in this morning.

         14                 COUNCIL MEMBER LOPEZ:  Robert, just

         15  one point --

         16                 CHAIRPERSON JACKSON:  I am sorry.

         17                 COUNCIL MEMBER LOPEZ: -- that people,

         18  I gave information to people before that was not

         19  accurate, and I want to correct the record.

         20                 CHAIRPERSON JACKSON:  Okay.

         21                 COUNCIL MEMBER LOPEZ:  Council Member

         22  Annabel Palma has signed to the bill, therefore we

         23  have 38 members signing to the bill, which make it

         24  be approved, without no doubt.

         25                 CHAIRPERSON JACKSON:  Okay.
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          2                 COUNCIL MEMBER LOPEZ:  That is it.

          3                 CHAIRPERSON JACKSON:  And with that I

          4  would like to thank to all of you, and I am going to

          5  final comments to my colleague, Council Member

          6  Christine Quinn of Manhattan.

          7                 COUNCIL MEMBER QUINN:  I just want to

          8  thank the panel.  Again, thank Council Member

          9  Jackson.  Say, when I was thinking about the timing,

         10  it is interesting that the Mayor have to override

         11  the veto in Gay Pride Month, might have to veto and

         12  we might get to override.

         13                 And I just want to welcome everybody

         14  down to the Rotunda downstairs for our press

         15  conference, which will start in just a few minutes.

         16  And thank you all very much.

         17                 CHAIRPERSON JACKSON:  Thank you.

         18  This Committee is over.

         19                 (Hearing adjourned at 12:30 p.m.)

         20                 (The following testimony was read

         21  into the record.)

         22

         23  Testimony of:

             Gregory Brooks

         24  Deputy Comptroller, Policy, Audit, Contracts,

             and Accountancy

         25  Comptroller Thompson's Office
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          2

          3                 Good afternoon, Chair Jackson,

          4  Council Member Quinn, and members of the City

          5  Council.  Thank you for the opportunity to present

          6  testimony on behalf of Comptroller William C.

          7  Thompson.

          8                 Comptroller Thompson supports Intro.

          9  271, the Equal Benefits Bill, which would require

         10  contractors doing business with the City of New York

         11  to extend benefits to the domestic partners of their

         12  employees.

         13                 The law would cover firms with

         14  contracts valued at more than $100,000, requiring

         15  them to apply leave policies and provide all

         16  benefits-- including health care coverage, pension

         17  benefits, disability, and life insurance- to all of

         18  their employees on an equal basis.

         19                 Passage of this legislation would

         20  mark an important step forward in the fight for

         21  equal rights for all people.  It would also bring

         22  the City's requirements for companies into step with

         23  the City's policy for its employees.

         24                 Under current law, the domestic

         25  partners of New York City employees are entitled to

                                                            104

          1  COMMITTEE ON CONTRACTS

          2  receive the same benefits as spouses.  The companies

          3  covered under this bill are doing significant

          4  business with the City. Much like City employees,

          5  their employees provide essential services to the

          6  City of New York, and they deserve the same rights

          7  and privileges.

          8                 The City of New York has a

          9  responsibility to do business with companies that

         10  respect the basic rights of all of their employees.

         11  Businesses that cannot or do not wish to abide by

         12  New York City's standards simply should not be doing

         13  business with the City.

         14                 This will send a strong message to

         15  private companies, seeking to win contracts: Make it

         16  your business to offer equal benefits, or you will

         17  not do business with the City of New York.

         18                 The Comptroller's Office does have

         19  some technical concerns regarding the best way to

         20  structure the audit requirements included in the

         21  legislation.  We have already discussed them with

         22  some Committee members, and we look forward to

         23  working with the Committee as review of the

         24  legislation proceeds.

         25                 Comptroller Thompson applauds Council
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          2  Member Quinn and Chair Jackson for advancing this

          3  important legislation, and the members of this

          4  Committee for sponsoring the bill.  We look forward

          5  to working with you and the entire City Council to

          6  support its passage.

          7                 Thank you, once again, for the

          8  opportunity to present testimony today.

          9                 (Hearing concluded at 12:30 p.m.)
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